Thesis for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Buffer Related Dispersive Effects in Microwave GaN HEMTs

Johan Bergsten



Department of Microtechnology and Nanoscience - MC2 CHALMERS UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY

Göteborg, Sweden 2018

Buffer Related Dispersive Effects in Microwave GaN HEMTs

Johan Bergsten

© Johan Bergsten, 2018

ISBN 978-91-7597-726-3

Doktorsavhandlingar vid Chalmers tekniska högskola Ny serie nr 4407 ISSN 0346-718X

Technical Report MC2-382 ISSN 1652-0769

Department of Microtechnology and Nanoscience - MC2 Chalmers University of Technology SE-412 96 Göteborg Sweden Telephone + 46 (0)31-772 1000

Printed by Chalmers Reproservice Göteborg, Sweden 2018 Buffer Related Dispersive Effects in Microwave GaN HEMTs Johan Bergsten Department of Microtechnology and Nanosciene - MC2 Chalmers University of Technology

Abstract

In applications such as mobile communication and radar, microwave power generation at high frequency is of utmost importance. The GaN HEMT offers a unique set of properties that makes it suitable for high power amplification at high frequencies. However, their performance is limited by trap states, leading to reduced output power and time variant effects. Furthermore, for good high frequency performance a high efficiency it is essential to limit the access resistances in the transistor. The GaN HEMT technology has long lacked a good ohmic contact with good reproducibility.

In this thesis, three buffer designs are considered; C-doped GaN, AlGaN back barriers and a thin GaN structure. The three designs are evaluated in terms of trapping effects using the drain current transient technique. For the C-doped GaN buffer, trapping at dislocations covered with C-clusters is believed to be the main factor limiting output power. Dislocations are presumed to play a major role for the trapping behavior of AlGaN back barriers and the thin structure as well. The maximum output powers for C-doped GaN, AlGaN back barriers and the thin structure are 3.3, 2.7, and 3.9 W/mm at 30 GHz. The output power is found to be limited by trapping effects for all buffer designs.

Moreover, a Ta-based, recessed ohmic contact enables a contact resistance of down to 0.14 Ω mm. The results also indicate that a highly reproducible process might be possible for deeply recessed contacts. An optimized AlGaN/GaN interface shows high mobility >2000 cm²/Vs without the use of an AlN-exclusion layer. The improved interface also decreases trapping effects and the gate-source capacitance at large electric fields compared to an unoptimized interface.

KEYWORDS: GaN HEMT, buffer design, C-doping, trapping effects, recessed ohmic contacts, AlGaN/GaN interface quality.

List of appended papers

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers:

- A. J. Bergsten, A. Malmros, M. Tordjman, P. Gamarra, C. Lacam, M.-A. di Forte-Poisson, and N. Rorsman, "Low resistive Au-free, Ta-based, recessed ohmic contacts to InAlN/AlN/GaN heterostructures," *Semiconductor Science and Technology*, vol. 30, iss. 10, pp. 105034, 2015.
- B. J. Bergsten, J.-T. Chen, S. Gustafsson, A. Malmros, U. Forsberg, M. Thorsell, E. Janzén, and N. Rorsman, "Performance Enhancement of Microwave GaN HEMTs Without an AlN-Exclusion Layer Using an Optimized AlGaN/GaN Interface Growth Process," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 63, iss. 1, pp. 333-338, 2015.
- C. S. Gustafsson, J.-T. Chen, J. Bergsten, U. Forsberg, M. Thorsell, E. Janzén, and N. Rorsman, "Dispersive Effects in Microwave Al-GaN/AlN/GaN HEMTs With Carbon-Doped Buffer," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 62, iss. 7, pp. 2162-2169, 2015.
- D. J. Bergsten, X. Li, D. Nilsson, Ö. Danielsson, H. Pedersen, E. Janzén, U. Forsberg, and N. Rorsman, "AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors with intentionally doped GaN buffer using propane as carbon precursor," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 55, pp. 05FK02, 2016.
- E. J. Bergsten, M. Thorsell, J.-T. Chen, D. Adolph, O. Kordina, E. Ö. Sveinbjörnsson, and N. Rorsman, "Electron Trapping in Extended Defects in Microwave AlGaN/GaN HEMTs with Carbon Doped Buffers," *Submitted to IEEE Transactions on Electron De*vices.

Other publications

The following papers have been published but are not included in the thesis. Their content partially overlap with the appended papers or are out of the scope of this thesis.

- a. X. Li, J. Bergsten, D. Nilsson, Ö. Danielsson, H. Pedersen, N. Rorsman, E. Janzén, and U. Forsberg, "Carbon doped GaN buffer layer using propane for high electron mobility transistor applications: Growth and device results," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 107, iss. 26, pp. 262105, 2015.
- b. T. Huang, A. Malmros, J. Bergsten, S. Gustafsson, O. Axelsson, M. Thorsell, and N. Rorsman, "Suppression of Dispersive Effects in AlGaN / GaN High-Electron-Mobility Transistors Using Bilayer SiN_x Grown by Low Pressure Chemical Vapor Deposition," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 36, iss. 6, pp. 537-539, 2015.
- c. T. Huang, O. Axelsson, A. Malmros, **J. Bergsten**, S. Gustafsson, M. Thorsell, and N. Rorsman, "Low-Pressure-Chemical-Vapor-Deposition SiN_x passivated AlGaN/GaN HEMTs for power amplifier application," *Asia-Pacific Microwave Conference Proceedings*, *APMC*, vol. 3, 2016.
- d. T. Huang, C. Liu, J. Bergsten, H. Jiang, K. M. Lau, and N. Rorsman "Fabrication and Improved Performance of AlGaN/GaN HEMTs with Regrown Ohmic Contacts and Passivation-First Process," *Compound Semiconductor Week*, 2016.
- e. A. Pooth, J. Bergsten, N. Rorsman, H. Hirshy, R. Perks, P. Tasker, T. Martin, R. F. Webster, D. Cherns, M. J. Uren, and M. Kuball, "Morphological and electrical comparison of Ti and Ta based ohmic contacts for AlGaN/GaN-on-SiC HFETs," *Microelectronics Reliability*, vol. 68, pp. 2-4, 2017.
- f. T. Huang, O. Axelsson, J. Bergsten, M. Thorsell, and N. Rorsman, "Achieving Low-Recovery Time in AlGaN/GaN HEMTs with AlN Interlayer under Low-Noise Amplifiers Operation," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 38, iss. 7, pp. 926-928, 2017.

- g. T. Huang, **J. Bergsten**, M. Thorsell, and N. Rorsman, "Small- and Large-Signal Analyses of Different Low-Pressure-Chemical-Vapor-Deposition SiN_x Passivations for Microwave GaN HEMTs," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 65, iss. 3, pp. 908-914, 2018.
- h. J. Bergsten, "Advanced Heterostructure Designs and Recessed Ohmic Contacts for III-Nitride-Based HEMTs," Thesis for the degree of Licentiate of Engineering, Department of Microtechnology and Nanoscience, Chalmers University of Technology, Gothenburg, Sweden, 2015.

Contents

1	Introduction		
2	GaN HEMT fundamentals2.1 The GaN HEMT and its operation2.2 The GaN HEMT epi-structure	5 5 10	
3	GaN HEMT technology		
	3.1 HEMT fabrication process	16	
	3.2 Ohmic contacts	18	
	3.3 Device isolation	23	
	3.4 2DEG mobility enhancement	25	
4	Buffer design and characterization		
	4.1 Trap characterization	30	
	4.2 Compensation doped GaN	34	
	4.3 Back-barrier	43	
	4.4 Thin buffer	46	
	4.5 The impact of buffer design on output power	49	
5	Conclusions and future outlook	55	
6	Summary of appended papers	59	
Ac	knowledgments	63	
Bi	bliography	65	

Chapter

Introduction

GaN high electron mobility transistors (HEMTs) are of great interest for microwave power generation at high frequency. At the early stages, the advancements of GaN HEMTs were mainly driven by radar applications in the defense industry. In these, high output power, efficiency, and robustness are of great importance. The last couple of years, radar systems based on GaN HEMT monolithic microwave integrated circuits (MMICs) have started entered the market. Currently, mm-wave scanners for security applications are also among possible applications for GaN HEMTs. Furthermore, as the demand for higher data rates in mobile communication is increasing, higher operating frequencies are required in order to increase bandwidths and escape the congested bands in the sub 6 GHz range. In the 5th generation of wireless systems (5G), operating frequencies up to 60 GHz are expected. Moreover, wireless links in the backhaul of the 5G network (requiring very high data rates) are expected to operate at frequencies up to 170 GHz. These demands are a good fit for the large bandwidths achievable through the GaN HEMT technology. Aside from these applications, GaN HEMTs are readily employed in high power switching applications. In these, the low on-resistance, high switching frequencies and high operating voltages offer exceptional performance [1]. Even though GaN HEMTs for power applications share many of the issues of GaN HEMTs for microwave applications, power devices will not be considered in this thesis.

The excellent performance of the GaN HEMT is enabled by the large band gap of GaN (3.4 eV), its large electron velocity $(2 \cdot 10^7 \text{ cm/s})$, together with the ability to form HEMT epi-structures with

high electron mobility (> 2000 cm²/Vs) and large electron sheet density (> $1 \cdot 10^{13}$ cm⁻²). The large band gap leads to robust devices that can operate at high voltages. The high electron mobility and large sheet density decreases the losses in the transistors and, together with the large electron velocity, enables excellent high frequency performance with f_T and f_{max} reaching over 400 GHz [2]. In total, the exceptional material qualities leads to high achievable output power (Pout = 3 W/mm) even at operating frequencies around 100 GHz [3]. Furthermore, due to the large operating voltages superior linearity and lower matching losses compared to competing technologies are expected [4]. The HEMT structure also facilitates great noise performance, making GaN HEMTs ideal for low noise amplifiers.

However, even though GaN HEMT technology has matured exceedingly over the past years, several problems still remain. For example, a highly repeatable ohmic contact with low contact resistance is not yet available. This leads to reduced yield, reduced efficiency and reduced high frequency performance. Furthermore, DC-AC dispersion is a major concern, leading to reduced output power and efficiency. In some applications, such as low noise amplifiers, linearity can also be heavily affected by dispersive effects. The dispersive effects are due to traps located mainly on the surface or in the bulk of the semiconductor. The effects of the surface traps can be almost completely mitigated using passivation layers and field plates while the bulk traps require extensive epi-structure optimization to be minimized. Since the HEMTs operate at high power levels, large demands are put on thermal management. The epi-structure is commonly grown on SiC substrates, enabling an effective removal of excess heat. However, layers of poor crystalline quality or ternary alloys (e.g. AlGaN or InAlN) in the epi-structure can severely increase the total thermal impedance between the transistor and the substrate [5, 6]. From a commercial standpoint the GaN HEMT technology lacks standardized processes, leading to reduced reliability, uniformity, and repeatability, which are associated with large associated costs.

The main part of the thesis is attributed to buffer design and its effect on dispersive effects and output power. The goal has been to summarize the three appended papers dealing with this topic, trying to give a combined interpretation of the results. In the case when the appended papers does not cover the topic that is discussed, previously unpublished results are used to facilitate the discussion. Other aspects on GaN HEMT technology are also investigated with focus on areas where problems still remain. Furthermore, this thesis aims to give the reader a brief introduction to the basic ideas and problems of the GaN HEMT.

The thesis is organized as follows. A brief introduction to the GaN HEMT, its operation, and the epi-structure design is given in Chapter 2. In Chapter 3 crucial technological aspects of the GaN HEMT is discussed, including ohmic contacts and surface passivations. The main contribution of this thesis, regarding buffer design and characterization, is presented in Chapter 4. Finally, Chapter 5 presents conclusions that can be drawn from this thesis and a future outlook of the field. Parts of the research work in this thesis have already been published in the Licentiate thesis [h]. Therefore, text and figures from [h] may be fully or partially reproduced in this thesis.

Chapter 2

GaN HEMT fundamentals

The aim of this chapter is to give a brief introduction to the basic design and function of a GaN HEMT. This is used as a basis for discussion of different issues and design choices, parts of which are considered more extensively later in the thesis. Section 2.1 deals with the transistor layout and its operation. In section 2.2 a brief introduction to a standard GaN HEMT epi-structure on a SiC substrate, similar to what has mostly been used in this thesis, is presented.

2.1 The GaN HEMT and its operation

A schematic cross section of an AlGaN/GaN HEMT, with its essential parts indicated, can be seen in Fig. 2.1. The 2-dimensional electron gas (2DEG) in the AlGaN/GaN interface forms the channel of the transistor. The electrons in the 2DEG should have a high electron mobility (μ) to decrease the resistance of the access regions. Furthermore, the electron sheet concentration (n_s) should be appropriately large for the intended application. Standard values for μ and n_s in an AlGaN/GaN heterostructure are 2000 cm²/Vs and 10¹³ cm⁻² respectively.

2DEG formation The mechanisms responsible for the formation of the 2DEG is well described in [7]. In short, the III-N materials are all polarized due to the strong ionicity of their covalent atomic bonds. In the standard Ga-polar case, the polarization fields are pointing down into the structure, as indicated in Fig. 2.2a. The polarization field strength is larger in AlGaN compared to GaN, giving a net positive



Figure 2.1: Schematic illustration of an AlGaN/GaN HEMT. Image not to scale.

polarization charge at the AlGaN/GaN interface. This charge attracts electrons originating from the AlGaN surface, forming the 2DEG. The number of electrons in the 2DEG will be the same as the polarization charge which depends on the Al content and thickness of the AlGaN layer, where increasing Al-concentration and thickness leads to larger n_s . For an AlGaN barrier layer the Al-concentration usually range from 15 to 30%, and the thickness from 10 to 25 nm. The band structure of an Al_{0.30}Ga_{0.70}N/GaN structure can be seen in Fig. 2.2b. Compared to the AlGaAs/GaAs structure an important difference is that no n-doping in the AlGaN barrier layer is required to generate the electrons in the 2DEG. However, since the 2DEG is formed of electrons from the surface it is exceedingly sensitive to changes in the surface potential.

Ohmic and Schottky contacts The ohmic drain and source contacts should supply a connection to the 2DEG with low contact resistance (R_C) . Due to the large band gaps of the III-N:s, ohmic contact formation is hard to achieve. The topic of ohmic contacts have been a long standing issue in the GaN HEMT community and is explored in more detail in Chapter 3.

The purpose of the gate Schottky contact is to control the current flowing between the two ohmic contacts. This is done by utilizing the field effect where a change in V_{GS} will result in band bending under the gate contact. For a sufficiently negative V_{GS} , a depletion of the 2DEG under the gate contact is achieved, as illustrated in Fig. 2.3. Ni is the most commonly used gate metal for GaN HEMTs and is also used in



Figure 2.2: (a) Polarization fields in an AlGaN/GaN epi-structure, resulting in a net positive charge σ at the interface. (b) Conduction band and electron concentration of the heterostructure in (a).

this thesis. Other large work function metals can also be employed, such as Pt, Pd, Ir or Au [8]. The gate metal should also offer a low resistivity, to decrease the gate resistance, and good adhesion to the surface. The maximum output current is set by when the forward biased Schottky diode starts conducting. When it does, any change in applied gate voltage will modulate the gate leakage current instead of the band bending. A metal-insulator-semiconductor (MIS) structure can be used to limit gate leakage [9].



Figure 2.3: Schematic illustration of flat band condition.



Figure 2.4: A schematic illustration of (a) current collapse and (b) dynamic R_{ON} .

Surface effects Since the electrons in the 2DEG originates from the barrier surface it is very sensitive to changes in the surface potential [10]. Electrons can interact with trap states at the surface, reducing the number of electrons in the 2DEG. During transistor operation, this can have a large negative impact on performance. In fact, trapped electrons on the surface acts like a virtual gate, depleting the 2DEG [11]. If the trapping occur around the gate a decrease in I_{DS} will be measured, an effect known as current collapse, see Fig 2.4a. If the trapping occur in the drain access region, an increase in R_{ON} will be measured, Fig 2.4b. The trapped electrons usually originate from the gate metal and can get trapped during e.g. off-state biasing conditions or for large drain voltages. To mitigate these effects a surface passivation is usually deposited with the aim to passivate trap states or effectively blocking electrons from getting trapped.

Surface passivation The most investigated passivation layer for GaN HEMTs is silicon nitride, SiN_x [12, 13, 14, 15]. In this case, nitrogen is believed to play a crucial part in filling nitrogen vacancies on the surface, reducing the number of interface traps [16]. Other commonly used passivations are SiO₂ and Al₂O₃ [17, 18]. Several studies have compared different passivation layer's ability to reduce current collapse with various results [19, 20, 21]. Generally, SiN_x is found to give best performance. However, only comparing the passivation material is problematic since both pre- and post-treatments have shown to have large impact on trapping effects. For example, both N and O plasma based



Figure 2.5: SEM micrograph of a HEMT fabricated in this work. The gate, drain, and source contacts are indicated in the figure.

pre-treatments have shown to increase the effectiveness of the passivation layer [22, 23]. The topic of surface passivations and surface effects on III-N heterostructures is complex and many effects are not yet fully understood. Consequently, it is a popular research topic with many publications each year. For a more in depth look in to surface effects and passivations on GaN and AlGaN see [24].

Device layout A scanning electron microscope (SEM) micrograph of a GaN HEMT fabricated in this work can be seen in Fig. 2.5. The source, drain and gate contacts are indicated in the figure. As seen, two gate contacts are present. This design is made up of two transistors in parallel, with a shared drain contact. This is a common method to reduce the total area of the transistor for a certain gate width. In this thesis most, most measurements have been performed on $2x50 \ \mu m$ devices. Typical transistor dimensions are as follows; $L_{DS} = 2-3 \ \mu m$, $L_{GD} = 1-2 \ \mu m$, $L_{GS} = 1 \ \mu m$, $L_G = 50-200 \ nm$.

High frequency operation Two standard figures of merit of a transistors ability to operate at high frequencies are f_T and f_{max} . f_T (f_{max}) is defined as the maximum frequency at which the transistor can supply

small signal current (power) gain. f_T is proportional to v_e/L_G , where v_e is the electron velocity, whereas f_{max} is given by;

$$f_{max} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{f_T}{\sqrt{2\pi \cdot f_T \cdot C_{gd}(R_g + R_s) \cdot \frac{R_g + R_s}{R_{ds}}}}.$$
 (2.1)

Here, C_{gd} is the gate-drain capacitance, R_g and R_s are the gate and source access resistances, and R_{ds} is the output resistance. The main method of increasing the high frequency performance is down-scaling of L_G. However, as L_G is decreased, short channel effects start emerging, weakening the gate control. The short channel effects can be reduced by making the barrier layer thinner, decreasing the distance between the gate and the 2DEG. It has been reported that the aspect ratio between the gate length and AlGaN barrier thickness should be at least 15 in order to limit short channel effects [25]. However, as the barrier thickness is decreased n_s will also decrease, creating a complex optimization problem. Other than gate length scaling, decreasing the resistance in the access regions and the ohmic contacts are also vitally important for high frequency performance.

Electric fields in the structure One of the advantages of GaN HEMTs are the large breakdown voltages. During operation, large drain biases are regularly applied, leading to large electric fields. In Fig. 2.6 the electric potential distribution in a GaN HEMT held in off-state with a large drain bias are visualized. As seen, the change in electric potential (electric field) is largest at the gate edge on the drain side but also extends deeper into the GaN layer. Therefore, the large fields can have a considerable impact on the electron occupation of trap states in these areas. Gate or source connected field plates can help reduce the electric field strength and in so the number of occupied traps [26, 27]. In this work, a gate integrated field plate, as indicated in Fig. 2.1, is commonly used.

2.2 The GaN HEMT epi-structure

This section will give a brief overview of a standard GaN HEMT epistructure, commonly used for RF power amplifier applications, see Fig. 2.7. The purpose of each layer will be shortly explained and alternative material selections will be outlined. Currently, more exotic epi-structures are frequently reported. These will be covered more



Figure 2.6: Electric potential distribution in a GaN HEMT biased in an offstate with a drain voltage of 50 V. Sentaurus simulations courtesy of Hans Hjelmgren.

26.0 18.0 10.0 2.0 -6.0

2-3 nm	GaN-cap
10-30 nm	AlGaN-barrier
	2DEG
2 μm	GaN-buffer
100 nm	AIN-nucleation
	SiC-substrate

Figure 2.7: A schematic figure of an GaN epi-structure on a SiC substrate with approximate layer thicknesses indicated. Image not to scale.

extensively later in the thesis. Several different techniques are available to grow the epi-structure, the most commonly used are metal organic chemical vapor deposition (MOCVD) and molecular beam epitaxy (MBE). In this work, the main material suppliers (and collaborators) has been Linköping University and SweGaN AB, both of which use the same hot-wall MOCVD system [28]. However, materials have also been supplied by Cree Inc., IQE, and III-V lab, using the more common cold-wall MOCVD technique. As indicated by the name, in the hot-wall system the temperature of the growth target is controlled by heating the walls of the growth chamber, whereas only the target is heated in the cold-wall system. The lower temperature gradients in the hot-wall case generally results in better wafer uniformity but the technique is less suited for large scale fabrication compared to cold-wall systems. Since all the materials in this work have been grown using MOCVD, this will be the main growth method considered in this thesis.

Substrate A good substrate material should have a lattice constant close to the material that is to be grown on it. Under operation the HEMTs will generate a lot of heat so a large thermal conductivity of the substrate is desired. Furthermore, for high frequency applications the substrate should preferably be highly resistive in order to minimize parasitical capacitance. For commercial applications the substrate price is also of large concern. Table 2.1 summarizes the most common substrate alternatives for GaN-based epi-structures and their performance with respect to the parameters discussed above.

Material	Lattice mismatch with GaN $(\%)$	Thermal conduc- tivity (W/mm K)	Price
4H-SiC	3.4	490	Moderate
Si	17	150	Low
GaN	0	260	High
AlN	2.5	285	High
Diamond	12	600-2000	High

Table 2.1: Available substrates for III-N growth.

The high thermal conductivity and low lattice mismatch of SiC has made it the most common substrate for RF power amplifier applications. Meanwhile, the low price of Si substrates has made it the standard substrate for high power applications. GaN and AlN are both very attractive substrates but are only beginning to become commercially available in very small sizes. On these, very high quality GaN can be grown with low dislocation densities. Diamond is interesting due to its extremely high thermal conductivity. However, the large lattice mismatch and large difference in thermal expansion coefficient makes growth difficult. In this work SiC substrates have mainly been used.

Nucleation layer The function of the nucleation layer is mainly to facilitate two-dimensional growth of the subsequent GaN buffer, but also to mitigate the lattice mismatch between GaN and the substrate. Due to the lattice mismatch the crystal quality is inherently low for the nucleation layer, making it a poor thermal conductor. Since much of the benefits of using substrates with large thermal conductivity is negated by putting a thermal barrier in between the substrate and the devices, effort has been put in to optimizing the quality of the nucleation layer [5]. For SiC substrates AlN is most commonly used as nucleation layer. The larger lattice mismatch between GaN and Si sets larger requirements on the nucleation layer. Therefore, it is not uncommon to use strained AlN/GaN superlattices [29]. An advantage with GaN substrates is that no nucleation layer is required which will aid the overall heat transport through the structure.

GaN buffer The purpose of the GaN buffer layer is to decrease the number of defects in the channel region and enable a flat surface for

the barrier layer to be grown upon. Usually, the GaN buffer needs to be grown to a thickness of more than 1μ m before these conditions are met. The buffer also needs to supply a good bottom confinement in order to limit short channel effects. This can be achieved in a number of ways, unfortunately all of them are associated with increased trapping in the buffer region. Minimizing trapping effects while maintaining good confinement is therefore a common research topic for GaN HEMTs. This is also a large part of the thesis work and is further investigated in Chapter 4.

Barrier As explained above, using an AlGaN barrier as example, the 2DEG is formed due to the polarization charge in the barrier/GaN interface. However, other barrier materials than AlGaN are commonly employed. In_{0.17}Al_{0.83}N has the advantage of being lattice matched to GaN. This gives less strain in the structure which is beneficial from a reliability perspective. Furthermore, the high Al-concentration of In_{0.17}Al_{0.83}N results in a large polarization field, meaning a large n_s can be achieved for thinner barrier thicknesses. This is advantageous for high frequency applications since good gate control can be obtained even for short gate lengths. Even thinner barriers are possible when using pure AlN as barrier material. In this case, a barrier thickness of 3-4 nm is enough to generate a high n_s . Therefore, HEMTs with high values of f_T and f_{max} commonly utilize InAlN [30] or AlN [2] barriers.

GaN cap On top of the (usually Al rich) barrier layer it is common to include a thin (2-3 nm) GaN cap layer. This layer is intended to protect the surface of the barrier from oxidizing once it is removed from the growth chamber. The GaN cap layer reduces the maximum drain current as well as the gate leakage [31].

Chapter 3

GaN HEMT technology

Standardized processes with high yield are of great importance for any semiconductor technology. Many emerging technologies struggle to compete with more mature technologies, such as Si or GaAs, due to higher associated costs. Over the last 20 years GaN HEMT technology has matured immensely. However, areas still remain where no standardized solutions exists. Most notably are the ohmic contacts which have been a long standing problem. The large band gap complicates the contact formation and although low resistive ohmic contacts are frequently reported, a standardized contact is not yet available. Another area of large interest is surface passivation. However, compared to ohmic contacts, surface passivation techniques are rather mature. A proper passivation layer in combination with field plates have shown to almost completely remove surface trapping [32]. A large part of the advances for GaN HEMTs can also be attributed to advances in material growth. Over the years, crystal quality have gradually increased and epi-structure designs that were previously only theoretically conceivable are now routinely grown. Nevertheless, dislocations and other growth defects can still have a limiting effect on device reliability and performance [33].

This chapter will give an overview of some important and challenging areas of GaN HEMT technology. First, the process flow for HEMT fabrication used in this thesis is presented in section 3.1. Second, ohmic contacts to GaN-based heterostructures are considered. A recess etched Ta-based contact is reported in paper [A] and the general state of ohmic contacts to GaN-based heterostructures is treated in section 3.2. Third, achieving low device-to-device leakage has been investigated in section 3.3. Lastly, section 3.4 deals with material growth, specifically the quality of the GaN to AlGaN transition. Paper [B] reports on the effect of the AlGaN/GaN interface quality on electron penetration into the barrier layer. Buffer design is also of vital importance for the GaN HEMT large-signal and high frequency performance. This topic is considered in Chapter 4.

3.1 HEMT fabrication process

The process flow for HEMT devices used in this thesis is presented in Fig. 3.1. The processing steps are as follows:

- 1. A Si-rich SiN passivation layer (50-70 nm) is deposited using low pressure chemical vapor deposition (LP-CVD). This passivation has shown to give a good protection from surface trapping [34].
- Mesa isolation is achieved using photolithography and an Oxford ICP-RIE dry etching system (used for all dry etching processes). The SiN is etched in a NF₃-based plasma, whereas the heterostructure is etched in a Cl/Ar-based plasma.
- 3. Recessed ohmic contacts are formed. This is a self-aligned process in which the same resist mask is used for both etching and metal lift-off. A low power Cl-based plasma is used for the recess etching, followed by surface cleaning in diluted HCl and HF. Metal deposition is performed in an e-beam evaporator system using a metal stack of Ta/Al/Ta. The contacts are annealed in a rapid thermal anneal system in N ambient at 550-600 °C. The ohmic contact process is explained in further detail in paper [A].
- 4. The gate footprint is defined using e-beam lithography and plasma etching. Most of the SiN is etched in a anisotropic etching process, based on CF_4/Ar . This allows the correct gate length to be maintained since the gate length is set by the etched trench in the SiN. The last part of the SiN is etched using the standard NF₃ plasma in order to remove any polymer residues created by the CF_4 .
- 5. Another e-beam lithographic step is used to define the gate metal, which is deposited using e-beam evaporation. A Ni/Pt/Au metal stack is used, forming a gate with an integrated field plate.
- 6. Metal contact pads (Ti/Au/Ti) are formed using optical lithography and e-beam evaporation.



Figure 3.1: Illustration of the GaN HEMT process flow used in this thesis. Images not to scale.

3.2 Ohmic contacts

A reliable ohmic contact process with low contact resistance (R_C) is essential in all semiconductor technologies. For HEMTs, low R_C is especially vital for the high frequency performance of extremely scaled devices [35]. Noise performance, efficiency, and reliability are also enhanced for devices with low R_C -contacts. Furthermore, for devices with short drain and source access regions, the line edge acuity of the contacts is of great importance in order to prevent short circuits with the gate metal.

The standard way to achieve ohmic contacts with **Planar** contacts low R_C in GaN HEMT epi-structures is a Ti/Al/Ni/Au metal stack deposited directly on top of the barrier layer [36, 37, 38, 39, 40]. This planar contact method can give low R_C (~ 0.15 Ωmm) but requires a high anneal temperature (800-900 °C) which may cause increased sheet resistance in the 2DEG [41]. Furthermore, poor line edge definition may be obtained due to the low melting point of Al (~ 660 °C), causing reactions with the Au layer [42, 43]. Many explanations for the low R_C obtained with Ti/Al-based contacts have been suggested. The formation of TiN through extraction of N from the semiconductor is the most common one. Here, N-vacancies in the barrier layer is thought to act as n-dopants which will effectively decrease the energy barrier seen by the electrons, increasing the tunneling probability and reducing the contact resistance [44, 45, 46, 47]. However, the violent reaction occurring when forming TiN have shown to lead to protrusions in to the semiconductor [48]. In paper [e] these protrusions have been connected to increased vertical and lateral leakage currents, limiting high voltage operation.

To get a sense of typical R_C values for planar contacts, Table 3.1 compares literature values of contacts formed to various GaN heterostructures where the metal stack has been deposited on top of the barrier. Both Ti/Al/Ni/Au and other metallization schemes are included. As seen, typically an anneal temperature of over 800 °C is required, with the exception of an Mo-based contact annealed at 650 °C. Another observation that can be made is that for Ti/Al-based contacts a higher R_C is generally obtained for AlGaN barriers with high Al-content. This is probably related to the larger energy barrier present in these cases.

Ref.	Barrier	Metal stack	Anneal temp. (°C)	R_C (Ωmm)
[36]	$\frac{{\rm GaN/Al_{0.28}Ga_{0.72}N}}{{\rm AlN}~(2/27/1~{\rm nm})}$	Ti/Al/Ni/Au	820	0.45
[38]	$\begin{array}{c} Al_{0.24}Ga_{0.76}N \\ (18 \text{ nm}) \end{array}$	Ti/Al/Ni/Au	830	0.2
[40]	$\begin{array}{c} Al_{0.30}Ga_{0.70}N \\ (24 \text{ nm}) \end{array}$	Ti/Al/Mo/Au	750	0.35
[49]	Al _{0.26} Ga _{0.74} N/AlN (-/- nm)	Ta/Ti/Al/ Mo/Au	825	0.4
[50]	$\frac{{\rm GaN/Al_{0.20}Ga_{0.80}N}}{{\rm AlN}~(2/20/2~{\rm nm})}$	Ti/TiN	850	0.13
[50]	$\frac{\rm GaN/Al_{0.35}Ga_{0.65}N}{(2/20~\rm nm)}$	Ti/TiN	850	0.6
[51]	$In_{0.17}Al_{0.83}N/AlN$ (6/1 nm)	Mo/Al/Mo/Au	650	0.15
[52]	${{\rm In_{0.17}Al_{0.83}N/AlN} \over (7/1~{\rm nm})}$	Si/Ge/Ti/ Al/Ni/Au	820	0.35
[53]	$\frac{\rm In_{0.18}Al_{0.82}N/AlN}{(10/1 \text{ nm})}$	Ti/Al/Ni/Au	900	0.15
[54]	$\frac{\rm In_{0.18}Al_{0.82}N/AlN}{(9/1 \text{ nm})}$	Ta/Si/Ti/ Al/Ni/Au	825	0.36

Table 3.1: Literature values of ${\cal R}_C$ for planar contacts on different heterostructures.

Ref.	Barrier	$\frac{R_C}{(\Omega mm)}$
[57]	$In_{0.17}Al_{0.83}N/AlN$ (3/2 nm)	0.16
[55]	$\frac{\mathrm{In}_{0.18}\mathrm{Al}_{0.82}\mathrm{N}/\mathrm{Al}\mathrm{N}}{(8/1~\mathrm{nm})}$	0.10
[58]	$\frac{\text{GaN/AlN}}{(3/4 \text{ nm})}$	0.10
[56]	$\frac{\rm GaN/Al_{0.26}Ga_{0.74}N}{\rm (3/18~nm)}$	0.31
[d]	$\frac{\rm GaN/Al_{0.30}Ga_{0.70}N}{(2/11~\rm nm)}$	0.24

Table 3.2: Literature values of R_C for regrown contacts on different heterostructures.

Regrown n^+ -GaN contacts Extremely low values of R_C $(\sim 0.1 \ \Omega mm)$ have been achieved using regrown n⁺-GaN contacts [2, 55]. These contacts are made by etching past the barrier, in to the buffer layer, and then growing lattice matched, highly doped n-GaN in the recess. This allows for the formation of a direct contact between the 2DEG and the n⁺-GaN with low resistance. The n⁺-GaN is then easily contacted using standard metallization. This technique offers very low R_C but the processing is complex and costly which could make it unsuitable for large scale fabrication. Furthermore, a large 2DEG density is required to obtain extremely low values of R_C for regrown contacts [56]. Since a large n_s is not always an option other contact processes are sometimes more reasonable options. Due to their nature, regrown contacts are mostly used on extremely down-scaled devices for high frequency operation. As explained in section 2.2, in these cases an AlN or InAlN barrier is usually employed for which a large n_s is easily attained. Table 3.2 shows achieved contact resistances on different heterostructures using regrown contacts. As expected, for barriers sustaining a large n_s an extremely low R_C can be achieved. However, for structures with a more moderate $n_s ~(\sim 1 \cdot 10^{13} \text{ cm}^{-2}), R_C$ is comparable to metal-based contacts. This was also the case for the regrown contacts in paper [d].



Figure 3.2: Illustration of three different cases of the formation of recessed ohmic contacts; (a) one where the barrier is still present, (b) one where the barrier is present but it is so thin that no 2DEG is formed under it and (c) one where the barrier has been entirely etched.

Recess etched contacts Recess etched metal based contacts can be seen as a compromise between planar metal contacts and regrown contacts. In this case, a recess etch is performed prior to metal deposition which has shown to decrease the required anneal temperature [59]. However, recess etching introduces additional parameters, such as recess depth and slope of the recess sidewall. Generally, the formation of recessed ohmic contacts can be divided in to three different cases; one where the barrier is still present, one where the barrier is present but it is so thin that no 2DEG is formed under it, and one where the barrier has been entirely etched away, Fig. 3.2. In the first case the contact mechanisms should be similar to planar metal based contacts. However, in the two later cases current transport have to rely on a sidewall contact [60]. For these, the sidewall angle (α) should be of great importance as it will determine the 2DEG-to-metal distance [56].

The effect of recess depth on R_C has been studied a number of times

Ref.	Barrier	Metal stack	Anneal temp. (°C)	$\begin{array}{c} R_C \\ (\Omega mm) \end{array}$
[A]	${ m In_{0.17}Al_{0.83}N/AlN}\ (6/2 { m nm})$	Ta/Al/Ta	550	0.14
[51]	$In_{0.17}Al_{0.83}N/AlN$ (6/1 nm)	Mo/Al/Mo/Au	650	0.15
[64]	$In_{0.18}Al_{0.82}N/AlN$ (9/1 nm)	Ti/Al/Ni/Au	600	0.70
[59]	$In_{0.18}Al_{0.82}N$ (15 nm)	Ti/Al/Ni/Au	700	0.39
[60]	${ m GaN/Al_{0.30}Ga_{0.70}N/} \ { m AlN} \ (10/22/1 \ { m nm})$	Ti/Al/Mo/Au	850	0.26
[65]	$\begin{array}{c} \text{AlGaN} \\ (22 \text{ nm}) \end{array}$	Ti/Al/Ni/Au	820	0.15
[66]	${ m GaN/Al_{0.26}Ga_{0.74}N}\ (2/18\ { m nm})$	Ti/Al/W	800	0.5

Table 3.3: Literature values of R_C for recessed contacts on different heterostructures.

with various results. A minimum in R_C has been found for recess depths around the 2DEG [51, 61, 62], when a large portion of the barrier was left [59, 63], and when the barrier was completely removed [60]. All in all, no clear conclusions regarding the optimum recess depth are easily drawn from the literature, perhaps because recess depth is not the only critical parameter. In paper [A] a parameter study was performed, varying the recess etch depth and anneal temperature using a Ta/Al/Ta metal stack with different thicknesses of the bottom Ta layer. This was done on an InAlN/AlN/GaN heterostructure with the lowest R_C $(0.14 \ \Omega \text{mm})$ achieved for a recess etch which almost removed the whole barrier. Table 3.3 contains values of R_C achieved using recessed contacts. Generally, the anneal temperatures are lower for recessed contacts compared to the planar contacts. Not only do the contacts presented in paper [A] have a comparably low anneal temperature, the R_C is also close to state of the art, even compared to regrown contacts.

From a reproducibility perspective it is interesting to note that in paper [A] a low R_C was achieved also for deeper etches, as seen in Fig. 3.3a. For recess depths close to the barrier thickness, a very stable etch-



Figure 3.3: A plot of (a) R_C and (b) R_{sh} versus etching depth using a bottom Ta thickness of 5 nm in paper [A]. The plot is constructed from the optimum anneal condition for each recess etch depth. The 2DEG position is indicated with a dotted line.

ing process is required to get reproducible contacts. Furthermore, even for small changes in the barrier design re-optimization of the etching time is necessary. A method to increase the reproducibility of recessed contacts could be to make a deep recess, well past the barrier layer. Ideally, this would remove the etching depth as a critical parameter and changes in the barrier layer would not affect R_C . This concept was further investigated in a Master's thesis [67]. In this work, the idea was to investigate the dependence of R_C on recess sidewall slope (α in Fig. 3.2) for deeply etched contacts. This was achieved through a new plasma etching process and control of the resist profile. Using a simple model, it was calculated that a near vertical etch would be ideal, although no experimental data supporting this was found. Further studies in this area are ongoing.

Another interesting property of the deeply etched contacts in paper [A] was the decrease in R_{sh} seen in Fig. 3.3b. A possible explanation is that the removal of the barrier under the contacts decreased a compressive strain in the heterostructure between the contacts. This would give a larger total polarization in this section which would increase n_s in the 2DEG [7].

3.3 Device isolation

For MMIC applications electrically isolating devices from each other is of high importance. Generally, two different approaches to achieve device isolation on GaN heterostructures are available. By etching mesas to define the active regions the only device-to-device current path available is through the highly resistive buffer or surface states along the way. Alternatively, high energy ion implantation can be used to damage the crystal and in so increase the resistivity. Both mesa etching and ion implantation has shown low device-to-device leakage [60, 68, 69]. However, lower gate-leakage is expected for ion implantation since there is no risk of the gate metal directly contacting the 2DEG [70]. Furthermore, a flat surface may simplify further processing as the mesas might cause varying resist thicknesses or interference effects during lithography exposure. Nevertheless, mesa etching might be preferable since ion implantation may degrade at high temperatures [71, 72]. In this thesis, reasonable device-to-device isolation levels (> 10⁶ Ω mm at 100 V for a separation of 5 μ m) are achieved using mesa etching. However, this value can be significantly larger depending on the buffer resistivity.

Decreased gate leakage using TMAH An experiment was designed with the intention of decreasing the gate leakage currents for the mesa etched devices. The chemical tetramethylammonium hydroxide (TMAH) has previously been used to decrease leakage currents in various GaN-based devices [73, 74, 75, 76]. Generally, TMAH works as an weak etchant on GaN, although it mostly etches areas with crystal defects. It has been shown to remove plasma etching damages and making etched sidewalls more vertical [77], as well as removing the native Ga-oxide and dangling bonds on the GaN surface [76]. Therefore, TMAH could decrease the gate leakage by producing a more vertical mesa sidewall, minimizing the gate metal-to-2DEG contact.

TMAH was applied on the dry etched surface after mesa etching (step 2 in Fig 3.1). The etching was performed for 10 min in a TMAH solution of 25%, kept at 80 °C. Two identical chips were used from the Fe-doped wafer in paper [E]. The first chip was processed using the standard HEMT process described in section 3.1 (denoted Standard), the other chip was processed in tandem but was also etched in TMAH after the mesa etch (denoted TMAH). The output characteristics remained unchanged by the TMAH treatment, Fig. 3.4a. However, a decrease in the gate leakage current by a factor of 5 was measured in the transfer characteristics, Fig. 3.4b. Most probably, this was due to a more vertical mesa sidewall, but could also be related to removal of current conducting surface states. In any case, TMAH treatment shows de-



Figure 3.4: (a) output and (b) transfer characteristics for samples with and without TMAH treatment. In (a) $V_{GS} = -4:1:1$ V and in (b) $V_{DS} = 10$ V. Note that a current compliance corresponding to 0.2 A/mm has been used in (b).

creased gate leakage with no obvious side-effects. The approach should be easy to include in any mesa isolation process.

3.4 2DEG mobility enhancement

Electron mobility is intrinsically high in the 2DEG due to the separation of the electrons and the ionized donor atoms. At room temperature (RT) several scattering processes contribute to the total mobility, although optical and acoustic phonons usually have the largest impact [78]. The phonon scattering is highly temperature dependent and their importance can be decreased by lowering the temperature. Other important processes are scattering due to interface roughness, alloy disorder scattering, and scattering at dislocations [79], which are all temperature independent processes. The relative importance of each process can be studied by varying the temperature or n_s and fit the resulting mobility changes to theoretical models for the scattering mechanisms [78, 79].

AlN exclusion layer A common method to increase the mobility of the 2DEG in GaN heterostructures is to include a thin (1-2 nm) AlN exclusion layer at the bottom of the barrier stack, see Fig. 3.5a. The large band gap of AlN is believed to limit the number of electrons penetrating into the barrier layer. The mobility in the 2DEG is then increased since a large prevalence of alloy disorder scattering is present



Figure 3.5: (a) Schematic illustration of barrier layer including an AlN-exclusion layer. (b) Simulated conduction band energies and electron densities for three AlGaN/GaN heterostructure with different AlGaN/GaN interfaces. The AlN layer is 1 nm thick and the diffuse interface changes Al-content from 0 % to 30 % over a distance of 3 nm.

in the barrier layer. Fig. 3.5b shows Poisson-Schrödinger simulations of AlGaN/GaN epi-structures with and without an AlN exclusion layer. As seen, the electron concentration extends further in to the barrier layer without the AlN exclusion layer. However, the inclusion of a high band gap AlN layer may inhibit the formation of ohmic contacts [80, 81, 82]. Furthermore, controlling the exact thickness of the thin AlN layer is problematic and even small variations in thickness can have large implications on e.g. n_s and ohmic contact resistance (which is another reason for using deeply recessed ohmic contacts). Table 3.4 lists literature values of achieved electron mobility for AlGaN/GaN systems with and without AlN exclusion layers, to show typical values for both cases.

Optimized AlGaN/GaN interface Using an optimized growth process, a sharp transition from GaN to AlGaN has been achieved, increasing electron mobility without including an AlN exclusion layer [83]. This can enable lower R_C while maintaining a low R_{sh} in epi-structures without AlN exclusion layers. In paper [B] such a structure was compared to an unoptimized AlGaN/GaN structure. The band diagram of the unoptimized structure is visualized in Fig. 3.5a as a diffuse interface that changes Al-content from 0 % to 30 % over a distance of 3 nm. It was found that the increased electron mobility was due to a lower alloy
Ref.	Growth	Domion	AlN-	Mobility	$n_s \cdot 10^{-13}$
	method	Darner	excl.	$(\mathrm{cm}^2/\mathrm{Vs})$	(cm^{-2})
[28]	MOCVD	Al _{0.22} Ga _{0.78} N 23 nm	2 nm	2300	1.0
[28]	MOCVD	$\begin{array}{c} Al_{0.22}Ga_{0.78}N \\ 23 \ nm \end{array}$	-	1600	-
[85]	MOCVD	Al _{0.25} Ga _{0.75} N 29 nm	- nm	2200	1.1
[85]	MOCVD	Al _{0.25} Ga _{0.75} N 29 nm	-	1300	0.9
[86]	MBE	Al _{0.24} Ga _{0.76} N 30 nm	$2 \mathrm{nm}$	1700	1.8
[86]	MBE	$Al_{0.24}Ga_{0.76}N$ 30 nm	-	1300	1.2
[83]	MOCVD	Al _{0.17} Ga _{0.83} N 28 nm	2 nm	2200	0.8
[83]	MOCVD	Al _{0.17} Ga _{0.83} N 28 nm	-	1700	0.6

Table 3.4: Literature values of room temperature 2DEG mobility and carrier concentration together with barrier design. All epi-structures have been grown on SiC substrates.

disorder scattering at the sharp interface. Furthermore, it is shown that in the unoptimized structure the electrons penetrate in to the barrier layer in a larger degree, leading to increased C_{gs} (extracted using the model in [84]) and increased dispersion at large drain bias. It is possible that the increased mobility seen in samples with an AlN exclusion layer is not only due to the large band gap of AlN increasing confinement. It could also be related to an improved interface quality created by the large difference in growth settings between GaN and AlN growth. It is worth noting that the mobility achieved in the optimized structure in paper [B] was lower than expected. This was due to the growth process being optimized for a different substrate size than what was used in paper [B]. In an optimized growth process, the sharp interface can yield a mobility greater than 2200 cm²/Vs [83].

Chapter 4

Buffer design and characterization

For their intended applications GaN HEMTs are required to be able to operate at high frequency and deliver a high output power. Furthermore, a high reliability is of large importance. The buffer design can have a large effect on these properties. For a leaky buffer the reliability is expected to decrease [87], and high operating frequencies cannot be achieved if the buffer does not confine the electrons, limiting short channel effects [88]. Lastly, dispersion due to traps in the buffer can severely limit the output power, and time-variant effects, such as charging and discharging phenomena, is a major concern for large-signal applications.

Unintentionally doped GaN in usually n-type due to the large incorporation impurities during growth. Therefore, compensation doping is required in order to increase the resistivity of the GaN buffer and fulfill the requirements listed above. In these structures a trade off between low leakage and low dispersion has to be made since the compensating dopants are a large source of trapping centers. Field plates can reduce the effect of buffer traps by reducing the peak electric field [27]. However, the trapping cannot be completely removed since the compensating atoms are required in order to reduce the buffer leakage. A possible alternative to compensation doped GaN buffers is the use of back barriers. In this case the bottom confinement is achieved by the means of an energy barrier. Ideally, this would remove the need for compensation doping and a device free of buffer dispersion could be achieved. However, due to limitations in achievable material quality this is not the case in practice.

This chapter deals with the two main approaches of buffer design described above: compensation doped GaN and back barriers. First, a brief introduction to trap characterization through drain current transient measurements is given in section 4.1. In section 4.2 compensation doping of GaN buffers is discussed. Of particular interest are C-doped buffers and therefore a more detailed analysis of these is given, based on the results presented in the appended papers [C], [D], and [E]. Fedoping is also considered since this is the current industry standard for microwave HEMTs. Section 4.3 describes the use of back barriers, their associated advantages and disadvantages. Also included is previously unpublished work on epi-structures utilizing back barriers. The results are used as a basis for discussion regarding design choices associated with back barriers. Following this, a new type of epi-structure, utilizing a thin buffer, is briefly discussed in section 4.4. This structure does not require compensation doping and is using the AlN-exclusion layer as a type of back barrier. Lastly, the different buffer designs are evaluated in terms of achievable output power in section 4.5.

4.1 Trap characterization

Trap characterization is an important tool for understanding and improving GaN HEMT devices. The characterization can have two goals; understanding what is causing the trapping or understanding the traps' effects on device performance. Commonly, pulsed-IV is used for trap characterization in GaN HEMTs. In this method, both V_{GS} and V_{DS} are pulsed from a quiescent, trap filling bias point to an active bias point where the current is measured. This method can quantify the effects of trapping to a certain degree but gives less information of the actual trapping mechanisms. Other methods that are commonly used are deep-level transient spectroscopy (DLTS) and photoluminescence, both of which mostly focus on understanding what are causing the trapping effects. The drain current transient (DCT) technique, which is explained below, can capture both aspects but is in this case mostly used for understanding the underlying defects creating the traps.

Surface reactions with atmospheric moisture The surface passivation should not only prevent electron trapping on the surface, it should also preserve the surface when exposed to different atmospheres



Figure 4.1: Pulsed-IV measurements performed on the same device in (a) nitrogen atmosphere, and (b) air atmosphere. Four different quiescent bias points are used (V_{GSQ}, V_{DSQ})

and protect from other contaminants. For example, atmospheric moisture might oxidize the surface with the aid of large electrical fields [89, 90]. In this thesis, similar effects have been observed for devices with SiN passivation. In Fig. 4.1 results from pulsed-IV measurements on the same device in different atmospheres are shown. In N₂ atmosphere the current decreases in an expected way with increasing quiescent drain bias. However, in air ambient almost total current collapse is measured for the two highest quiescent drain biases. In these cases it is believed that the large electric field enables moisture from the atmosphere to penetrate at the metal-SiN interface on the gate and drain edges. The moisture reacts with the surface of the barrier, changing the local electrical potential and in so the number of carriers in the 2DEG. This process seems to be reversible since the behavior in Fig. 4.1a is recovered after re-introducing a N₂ ambient. Therefore, the buffer trap characterizations have been performed in a N₂ ambient to prevent these effects from interfering with the measurements.

DCT-analysis The main trap characterization method used in this thesis is the drain current transient (DCT) technique. In this, the transistor is kept at a high stress bias point for a period of time, allowing traps to be filled. Following this, the bias is quickly switched to a low stress point, where the drain current is monitored for an extended time. When electrons are emitted from the traps, an increase in the drain current is observed. Depending on which high stress bias point is



Figure 4.2: (a) An example of a DCT measurement showing a single trap level with a time constant of 0.1 s. (b) Depiction of the extraction of the activation energy (E_A) and the capture cross section (σ_n) from an Arrhenius plot.

chosen, traps in different regions of the transistor can be filled. Using a large drain bias with the gate pinched is believed to mostly fill traps in the buffer region [91]. An example of a DCT measurement with a single trap level can be seen in Fig. 4.2a. From the measurement data the trap time constant can be extracted by fitting the following equation;

$$\frac{I_{DS}}{I_{DS,q}} = 1 - \sum_{i=1}^{N} \alpha_i \cdot \exp\left(-\frac{t}{\tau_i}\right)^{\beta_i}.$$
(4.1)

This model has been found to give the most accurate results for extraction of time constants [92]. Here, $I_{DS}/I_{DS,q}$ is the drain current normalized by the quiescent drain current, α_i is the amplitude of the trapping effect, τ_i is the trapping/de-trapping time constant, β_i is the stretching term and N is the number of traps. The stretching term can give additional information regarding the defect responsible for the trap level. For a point defect $\beta = 1$ and a standard exponential behavior is measured. However, for more complex emission processes β can be less than 1. For example, a small β has been related to the trapping/de-trapping kinetics being governed by hopping [93], or tunneling [94]. A small β has also been connected to the trapping centers forming a continuous distribution of energy levels rather than a discrete level [95]. **Arrhenius behavior** To characterize traps it is useful to extract their activation energy (E_A) and capture cross sections (σ_n) . For a trapped electron being emitted to the conduction band through a thermally activated process the emission rate is given by;

$$e_n = \sigma_n v_{th} N_C \cdot \exp(-E_A/k_B T). \tag{4.2}$$

Here, v_{th} is the thermal velocity, N_C is the effective density of states in the conduction band, k_B is Boltzmann's constant, and T is the absolute temperature. E_A and σ_n can be extracted by performing DCT measurements at different temperatures and extracting e_n to construct an Arrhenius plot, as seen in Fig. 4.2b. In the Arrhenius plot $ln(T^2/e_n)$ is plotted versus $1/k_BT$. Using Eq. (4.2), $\ln(T^2/e_n)$ can be re-written as;

$$\ln\left(\frac{T^2 exp(E_A/k_B T)}{(T^2 N_{C0})\sigma_n v_{th}}\right) = E_A/k_B T - \ln(N_{C0}\sigma_n v_{th}), \qquad (4.3)$$

where N_{C0} is the temperature independent part of N_C . When plotted versus $1/k_BT$ a line (y = kx + m) with $k = E_A$ and $m = -\ln(N_{C0}\sigma_n v_{th})$ will be obtained. σ_n can then be calculated since N_{C0} and v_{th} are known for GaN. Specific defects can be identified using E_A and σ_n since these should be unique. A compilation of E_A and σ_n for several traps found in GaN and their assumed origin can be found in [92].

Characterization of extended defects Point defects in semiconductors do not interact with each other, making each filled trap's emission time well described by Eq. (4.2) using a single E_A and σ_n . For extended defects the behaviour is more complex. Firstly, trapped electrons at an extended defect may change the local potential and in so change to effective capture cross section of the trap center [96]. Secondly, trap states along extended defects may have capture cross sections varying over several orders of magnitude [97]. These effects can be investigated through DCT measurements by varying the time spent in the trap filling bias condition (filling time variation). For longer filling times, traps with smaller σ_n may be trapped, leading to a large variation in the DCT signature for different filling times. In a sense, these measurements are similar to DLTS, although the DCT measurements is more versatile since both the gate and drain voltages can be changed in order to stress different areas of the device. The theory described above is the basis for the DCT analysis performed in paper [E]. For further reading on the DCT technique [92] and [98] are highly recommended.

4.2 Compensation doped GaN

Due to the large band gap of GaN the intrinsic carrier concentration is very low ($\sim 10^{-10}$ cm⁻³). However, as a result of the high growth temperatures, unwanted material from e.g. the growth chamber or substrate give large concentrations of impurities in the crystals. Two common impurities are Si and O, both of which are shallow donors in GaN [99]. Consequently, unintentionally doped (uid) GaN is often n-type. As explained in chapter 2.2 this is an issue for HEMT devices since the electrons in the 2DEG needs to be confined to minimize short channel effects and buffer leakage [88]. Hence, the excess electrons needs to be decreased in order to increase the resistivity of the buffer.

GaN buffers were initially rendered highly resistive by introducing a high density of defects in the buffer, but this also reduced the crystal quality in the 2DEG region, leading to decreased mobility [86, 100]. Currently, compensation doping using deep acceptors is the standard method to achieve high resistive buffers. In this method the compensation atoms can be minimized close to the barrier, maximizing n_s and μ in the 2DEG. The two most commonly used acceptors are Fe and C, which will be described more in detail in the following paragraphs. Other dopants forming deep acceptors in GaN are for example magnesium [101] or beryllium [102], but these are rarely used in HEMT devices.

Fe-doped GaN buffers

Fe-doped buffers are the current industry standard for microwave GaN HEMTs due to their high resistivity and high associated output power. To grow Fe-doped GaN using MOCVD, the Fe atoms need to be introduced in the growth chamber using a precursor. From a growth perspective, an advantage of Fe-doping is the large process window, giving a stable, reproducible growth process [103]. A disadvantage is the growth related memory effect which makes rapid transitions from high to low Fe-concentrations difficult to achieve. This is due to Fe segregating on the GaN surface during growth. Once the Fe-precursor has been turned off the remaining Fe on the surface will be incorporated with an exponential tail in the subsequently grown GaN [104].

Fe-doped GaN commonly shows a Fermi level pinning of around 0.6 eV below the conduction band [105, 106]. However, this level is not believed to be related to Fe in itself, but rather that the presence of this level is enhanced by the Fe-incorporation [107]. The actual Fe-level is believed to be located deeper in the energy band [108]. The 0.6 eV level is regularly seen in devices with Fe-doped buffers, leading to increased on-resistance and reduced drain current. Furthermore, this level has a room temperature emission time in the millisecond range. Therefore, it can have a large performance impact in applications that are sensitive to transient effects [109].

Microwave HEMTs with Fe-doped buffers Compared to unintentionally doped buffers, Fe-doping has been found to limit the achievable output power [110]. However, a low Fe-concentration has been found to decrease short-channel effects while maintaining a high output power [111]. The highest reported output power for GaN HEMTs have been achieved using an Fe-doped buffer (40 W/mm at 4 GHz under pulsed conditions) [26]. However, the exceptional result is mostly attributed to field plate optimization and no mention of reliability is made for these extreme operating conditions. An interesting approach to the growth related memory effects is presented in [112]. Here, a thin uid GaN channel is grown on a free standing Fe-doped GaN substrate, ensuring a rapid transition from high to low Fe-concentration. This results in 9.7 W/mm output power at 10 GHz, although in this case the excellent results should probably rather be attributed to the improved crystal quality and heat transport enabled by the GaN substrate rather than the Fe-doping profile.

Overall, Fe-doped GaN buffers are not as frequently investigated as C-doped buffers. This is probably due to Fe-doping suffering from fewer issues compared to C-doped buffers but also since C-doping is common in the commercially larger field of power electronics. As a result, the behavior of Fe-doped buffers in microwave applications can be predicted rather well whereas the underlying mechanisms are not as well understood. In this thesis, only one Fe-doped epi-structure has been reported (in paper [E]), grown by Cree Inc.. The purpose of this sample was to benchmark the HEMT process on an industry standard epi-structure. Generally, it offered a good trade off between dispersive effects and leakage. However, it also suffered from the characteristic 0.6 eV level which introduced knee-walkout effects and current collapse, and in so reducing the achievable output power. Clearly, even though Fe-doped buffers generally give the best performance in microwave applications, problems still remain.

C-doped GaN buffers

Highly C-doped GaN generally offers a higher resistivity compared to Fe-doped GaN [113]. Therefore, C-doped buffers are most commonly used in power applications in which a highly resisitve buffer is crucial in order to enhance the breakdown voltage [114]. In this thesis, C-doped buffers have been investigated for microwave applications, where a lower C-concentration is generally required due to the lower operating voltages. One of the advantages of C-doping is that it does not suffer from the same memory effects as explained for Fe incorporation. Instead, rapid changes from high to low C-concentration are readily achievable. For GaN films grown with MOCVD, the C-concentration may be controlled by managing the incorporation of residual C in the chamber. The residual C mainly originates from the Ga precursor (trimethyl gallium) and the incorporation rate is most commonly controlled by varying the growth pressure or temperature. Generally, at low pressure and at low temperature the C incorporation increases [115]. However, the same growth conditions can also lead to a degraded crystal quality, with increased presence of dislocations [116, 117]. This gives a trade off between high C-concentration and high crystalline quality. It is possible to avoid these issues by incorporating C using a C-carrying gas. For example, this was done in paper [a] using propane. In this case the growth settings can be optimized for high quality GaN and the C-concentration can be controlled by changing the flow rate of the C-precursor.

Incorporation of C in the GaN crystal Depending on growth conditions, C may be incorporated in a number of different places in the GaN crystal [118]. From physical simulations it has been found that when C is substituted with a Ga atom (C_{Ga}), a shallow donor in the conduction band is formed [119]. When C is substituted for an N atom (C_N), a deep acceptor state ~0.9 eV above the valence band maximum is formed [120]. C may also be incorporated in an interstitial position. Although, among these configurations C_N is the most energetically favourable for most growth conditions [120]. It is also the C_N configuration that is believed to be responsible for the increased resistivity observed for C-doped GaN layers, where the deep acceptor level works as a compensation dopant [108]. However, the exact mechanisms are still not fully understood.

The ideal conditions examined in physical simulations generally do not account for defects, which are always present in real samples. These defects can form separate energy levels [121], or even change the incorporation of C in the crystal. For example, dislocations commonly functions as attractors of defects in semiconductor materials [122]. This means that other impurities are accumulated at the dislocation. The process is called gettering and can be used to "clean" semiconductors of unwanted dopants. Gettering of impurity atoms to dislocations has also been reported for GaN [33, 123]. In these cases the impurity atoms are decorating the dislocations, forming states and changing the charge of the dislocation cores [123]. As proposed in paper [E], to fully control the incorporation of C in the GaN crystal, residual C-doping is probably not a feasible option since many variables are changed when changing C-concentration. From this perspective extrinsic C-doping is more promising since the general growth conditions and the C-incorporation are easier to separate.

Highly C-doped GaN buffers For power applications, high C-concentrations (~ 10^{19} cm⁻³) are required in order to limit breakdown [114]. At these C-concentrations GaN has been shown to become ptype [124]. This can have large implications on dispersion in HEMT structures [125, 126]. The problem arises due to a pn-diode formed between the p-type GaN and the 2DEG channel region. For fast switching from large to small drain biases, electrons can get trapped in the p-type region, effectively forming a back-biased pn-diode. In this case, the trapped electrons have no obvious way of returning to the 2DEG due to the electrostatic barrier. It has been argued that dislocations could form a leakage path through the pn-diode barrier for the trapped electrons [127]. This has been partially verified in experiments with devices of different surface area [128]. Here, smaller devices display larger dispersive effects and a larger device-to-device spread compared to larger devices. This is attributed to a lateral charge transport mechanism that is highly localized and distributed with a $\sim 100 \ \mu m$ scale of separation. The large distance excludes dislocation as a possible candidate for these vertical leakage paths since these are much more abundant. However, as discussed in [33], dislocations can getter C from the surrounding GaN, forming a C-depleted region around itself. When two dislocations are close to each other a "deep carbon depletion"-region may be formed, drastically decreasing vertical breakdown. Possibly, the same mechanism could be responsible for the behavior found in [128] since the separation of the "deep depletion"-regions were found to be around 10 μ m.

Moderately C-doped GaN buffers The theories on trapping mechanisms in HEMTs using highly C-doped, p-type, GaN are indeed interesting. However, for microwave HEMTs (the topic of this thesis) vertical breakdown is rarely an issue so lower C-concentrations are generally used. In [113] it was found that GaN shifted from n-type to p-type at a C-concentration of $1.6 - 2.9 \cdot 10^{18}$ cm⁻³. In a general GaN sample the shift from n-type to p-type should not only depend on the C-concentration but also on the background impurity levels. For lower Si and O impurity levels a lower C-concentration is required in order to render GaN p-type.

Fermi level position in moderately C-doped GaN Kelvin probe force microscope (KPFM) measurements (similar to those in [113]) have been used to estimate the Fermi level's position in a typical C-doped buffer used in this thesis. The GaN layer has been doped using a residual process to a C-concentration of $1 \cdot 10^{18}$ cm⁻³. An Fe-doped sample was also measured for comparison. The Fe-concentration is in this case unknown due to the proprietary doping process. However, the Fe-doped sample is still interesting as a reference considering the Fermi level in Fe-doped GaN is usually pinned at 0.6 eV below the conduction band. The samples were cleaned using diluted (1:10) HCl and HF solutions to remove potential surface oxides. A Ti/Au-stack (5/100 nm) was deposited directly on the surface. This metal stack has been shown to have a work function of 4.95 eV [129], thus providing a reference potential value. KPFM scans were performed across the edge of the deposited metal, including both the GaN and metal surfaces in a single scan, Fig. 4.3. This way the potential difference between the metal and the GaN layer can be measured. The Fermi level position is calculated using the following equation;

$$\Delta E_F = \phi_{Ti/Au} + e\Delta V - \chi_{GaN} - \Delta\phi. \tag{4.4}$$

Here, ΔE_F is the Fermi level to conduction band distance, $\phi_{Ti/Au}$ is the work function of the metal stack (4.95 eV), e is the electron charge,



Figure 4.3: Kelvin probe force microscopy scans on C- and Fe-doped GaN.

 ΔV is the measured potential difference between the GaN surface and the Ti/Au metal stack, χ_{GaN} is the electron affinity of GaN, and $\Delta \phi$ is the net band bending caused by surface or dipole charges. From [113]; $\chi_{GaN} = 3.5 \text{ eV}$ for a cleaned surface and $\Delta \phi = 0.4 \text{ eV}$ for semi-insulating GaN. Fig. 4.3 gives a ΔV of roughly -0.4 V for the C-doped sample and -0.05 V for the Fe-doped. This results in a Fermi level position 0.65 eV and 1 eV below the conduction band for the C-doped and Fedoped GaN respectively. In a hand waving argument, 0.4 eV can be taken a rough uncertainty in the measurement since a value of 0.6 eV is expected for the Fe-doped sample. Regardless, it is clear that the C-doped GaN is more n-type than the Fe-doped GaN in this case. This was also confirmed in mesa isolation measurements where the Fe-doped buffer offered 20 times lower leakage currents at 200 V.

C-doped buffers for microwave applications In the literature only a handful of studies have investigated the use of C-doped buffers for microwave applications [130, 131, 132, 133]. In these it is not verified

whether the GaN buffer is p-type or n-type. For C-concentrations low enough to form n-type GaN (moderately C-doped GaN) no pn-diode should exist between the GaN buffer and the 2DEG. Consequently, a different trapping behavior than described for highly C-doped GaN buffers could be expected. Using the results from the KPFM measurements and what was found in [113], a reasonable assumption is that C-concentrations $\leq 1 \cdot 10^{18}$ cm⁻³ should give n-type GaN. From the references this leaves [130] and [132]. In both of these cases a clear reduction in output power is measured for increasing C-concentration in the buffer. However, no deeper analysis on the origin of the trapping effects have been performed.

One of the advantages with C-doped buffers is the possibility to tailor the doping profile with a high precision. In paper [C] this was used to develop a stepped C-profile, with low C-concentration in vicinity of the 2DEG and a high concentration deep in the buffer. The stepped profile (Stepped:C) was compared to an unintentionally doped sample (Low:C) and a sample with a constant, high C-concentration (High:C). The exact doping profiles are shown in Fig.4.4. The C-concentrations in the three samples are expected to give n-type GaN. The three epi-structures were evaluated with respect to leakage and dispersion. Figures of merit such as drain induced barrier lowering (DIBL) and dynamic R_{ON} were extracted. DIBL is a measure of how much the pinch-off voltage shifts with increasing V_{DS} and give a measure of confinement. Pulsed-IV measurements were used to extract the dynamic R_{ON} as the increase (in %) between the quiescent bias points $(V_{GSQ}, V_{DSQ}) = (0,0)$ and (-6,15) V. It was found that the stepped C-profile gave a good trade off between short channel effects, leakage, and dispersion, as indicated by a low value of DIBL (1.2 mV/V) and dynamic R_{ON} (35 %). Corresponding values for High:C and Low:C were 0.1 mV/V and 750 %, and 22.4 mV/V and 10 % respectively. Even though an extensive trapping analysis was performed, no clear results regarding the origin of the C-induced trapping was found.

Buffer traps in n-type, C-doped GaN The work in paper [C] was continued in paper [E]. A more thorough trap characterization was performed in order to understand which trapping centers are important in n-type, C-doped buffers. Here, two C-doped epi-structures were investigated, Stepped:C and Exp:C (see Fig. 4.4 for exact profiles). Low:C from paper [C] was also used to facilitate further discussion. Tem-



Figure 4.4: Doping profiles for the C-doped epi-structures presented in this thesis.

perature and filling time dependent DCT measurements were used to extract three traps, denoted T1, T2 and T3. The DCT measurements for Exp:C are presented in Fig. 4.5, where the three traps have been indicated at their respective peak. T1 had a room temperature (RT) emission time of ~ 50 μ s, for T2 the RT emission time was ~ 5 s, and for T3 ~ 500 ms.

The processes responsible for the three traps are summarized in Fig. 4.6. T1 is associated with the largest current decrease and seems to be related to trapping at C-clustering around dislocations. This is supported by an increasing amplitude as well as a widening of the peak of T1 for longer filling times, indicating that the trap is due to extended defects. Furthermore, by comparing the amplitude of T1 between the three samples it is found to correlate with a high C-concentration. Additionally, gettering of C to dislocations is a well known effect in GaN [33]. The main current transport mechanism for T1 is believed to be hopping or tunneling as indicated by an activation energy close to 0 eV. In paper [E] it is proposed that a reduction of the dislocation density might be a way to reduce the impact of T1.

T2 and T3 only account for a few percent of the total current decrease but the mechanisms behind them are interesting. In a sense, the process is similar to the problems associated with the pn-diode present for high C-concentrations. The amplitude of T3 is negative and is believed to be related to hole emission from the C_N level. As indicated in Fig. 4.6, band bending will occur at the GaN/AlN-nucleation interface due to the polarization gradient present there. The band bending will create vacant C_N levels which can be filled by electrical stimulation, as



Figure 4.5: (a) Temperature and (b) filling time dependent DCT measurements for Exp:C from paper [E]. The high stress voltage was $(V_{GS}, V_{DS}) = (V_P-2,50)$ V and the low stress voltage was (1,7) V. A filling time of 1 ms was used in (a) and the measurements in (b) were performed at 20 °C.



Figure 4.6: Schematic figure depicting the trapping processes of T1, T2, and T3. The band diagram shows the different trap levels (C-clusters (\bullet), C_N (\circ), and defect band (DB)), as well as the intrinsic and approximate Fermi levels in our C-doped samples.

explained in [126]. The trapped electrons at the GaN/AlN interface are transported through the GaN buffer by means of the recently discovered defect band [121]. The leakage process is registered as trap T2 which has the same non-Arrhenius behavior as found in [121].

Extrinsic C-doping for a reduced dislocation density By controlling the C-concentration using a C-carrying gas, a lower dislocation density could be achieved for the same C-concentration. In this way, the importance of the T1 trap might be reduced. It is also possible that the different growth conditions could alter the gettering rate of the C atoms. An initial experiment using extrinsic C-doping is presented in paper [D]. In this paper, propane is used as C-carrying gas and the C-profile in Fig. 4.4 is achieved. The buffer supplied an excellent confinement resulting in a DIBL of 0.13 mV/V at $V_{DS} = 30$ V. However, large dispersive effects leading to knee-walkout, and thus limited output power, were also present. The C-concentration of Extrinsic:C was slightly larger compared to what was used in the residually doped samples in paper [E]. Probably, the larger C-concentration counteracted the lower dislocation density in this case. Another possibility is that the larger C-concentration rendered the GaN p-type, giving rise to the pn-diode related issues described for the highly C-doped buffers. Without further extrinsically doped samples to compare with it is difficult to draw any clear conclusions given the different growth conditions and C-profiles used in the two cases.

4.3 Back-barrier

A different way to increase the confinement is to introduce a backbarrier. The back-barrier is a high energy barrier that prevents the electrons from extending down into the heterostructure at larger drain biases. In this case the 2DEG has large energy barriers on both sides, sometimes called double heterostructure- (DH-) HEMT. To exemplify, the band diagram of an AlGaN/GaN/AlGaN structure, compared to a regular AlGaN/GaN structure, is shown in Fig. 4.7. In this particular case, the electron concentration decreases by ~ 20% by including the back-barrier. However, the confinement is increased, making it ideal for high frequency operation. This is also what the back-barrier is mostly used for in the literature. For example, the highest reported f_T and f_{max} for a GaN based HEMT has been achieved using an AlN/GaN/AlGaN heterostructure [2]. Several other devices showing impressive high fre-



Figure 4.7: Simulated conduction band energies and electron densities for an AlGaN/GaN heterostructure with and without an $Al_{0.05}Ga_{0.95}N$ back-barrier.

quency performance using AlGaN or InGaN back-barriers have also been reported [52, 134, 135].

However, some drawbacks are also associated with the use of backbarriers. For example, $Al_xGa_{1-x}N$ has a significantly lower thermal conductance compared to GaN and AlN. This is attributed to an increase in phonon scattering caused by the increased disorder in the crystal [6]. Therefore, devices with $Al_xGa_{1-x}N$ back-barriers often show an obvious decrease in drain currents at large dissipated power [134, 136, 137]. The effective thermal conductance can be increased by thinning down the back-barrier layer and growing a GaN buffer underneath (as explained in Chapter 2 the whole epi-structure still needs to be roughly 2 μ m thick in order to get a good crystal quality). However, this can introduce a parasitic channel in the interface between the AlGaN backbarrier and the GaN buffer. If this design is chosen the parasitic channel is usually removed by introducing deep acceptors in the GaN buffer [131, 138].

In theory, the back-barrier structure should be able to minimize trapping effects since no deep acceptors are required to get a good confinement. However, the $Al_xGa_{1-x}N$ ternary alloy is intrinsically more difficult to grow with a high crystal quality [139]. As described above, crystal defects can also contribute extensively to trapping effects. Furthermore, even though dopants are not required, the background doping for AlGaN is usually higher compared to GaN growth [140]. Generally,



Figure 4.8: The epi-structure designs and measured electron concentration and mobility of the two back barrier materials.

trapping in devices utilizing back barriers has not been as extensively investigated as for compensation doped GaN buffers. Therefore, important trapping centers in back barriers are difficult to find in the literature.

Back barrier materials in this thesis HEMTs on epi-structures with AlGaN back-barriers were processed in order to gain further knowledge of important trapping effects. The devices were the first try on back barrier structures with the main idea to investigate the effect of the uid GaN channel thickness on different performance figures. Two epi-structures with designs described in Fig. 4.8 were used. BB1 had a uid GaN thickness of 50 nm and BB2 100 nm. A large C-concentration in the AlGaN back-barrier was included to suppress leakage through this layer. Although, in hindsight, these values are probably too large. Regardless, the GaN channel thickness did not affect the 2DEG significantly and both structures showed reasonable values of sheet carrier density and a high electron mobility, Fig. 4.8.

DC-characteristics DC-characteristics were measured on devices with $L_G = 100$ nm in order to verify the functionality of the HEMTs. The saturated drain current (I_{DSS}, I_{DS} at V_{GS} = 1 V) was 0.6 A/mm and 0.8 A/mm for BB1 and BB2 respectively. Comparing to a regular AlGaN/GaN structure with similar 2DEG properties this current is lower than expected. This could be due to the back-barrier limiting the band bending in the uid GaN region. This would also explain the lower current in BB1 since this sample has a thinner GaN channel. The maximum transconductance (g_m) was around 350 mS/mm in both samples even though BB2 had a larger current. This was a result of the lower pinch-off voltage in BB2 (-2.0 and -2.5 V for BB1 and BB2 respectively). Overall, BB1 and BB2 were found to function properly although their performance were worse compared to a regular AlGaN/GaN epi-structure without back barrier.

Trapping evaluation Filling time dependent DCT measurements were performed to investigate trapping effects, see Fig. 4.9. An offstate voltage of $(V_P-2,30)$ V was used in order facilitate complete current recovery after 10 s. The DCT signatures of both BB1 and BB2 shared similarities with the C-doped samples discussed above. A fast time constant, similar to T1, with a large dependence on filling time was present in both samples. A slow time constant was also registered. However, for the slow time constant no dependence on filling time was found. With the discussion regarding the C-doped buffers in mind, it seems likely that the fast time constant is related to trapping at dislocations. The origin of the slow trap is more difficult to explain, although it is less important in terms of associated current decrease. Comparing BB1 to BB2 the current decrease is obviously much larger in BB1. This most likely means that the dislocations responsible for the trapping is located in the back barrier since this is closer to the 2DEG in BB1. Since the back barrier is C-doped it is possible that the same Cclustering as discussed for C-doped GaN buffers is present also in these structures.

4.4 Thin buffer

Many of the problems associated with both compensation doped GaN buffers and back barriers are due to the fact that the buffer needs to be grown to a thickness of around 2 μ m. If a high quality GaN layer could be achieved for a much lower thickness, the AlN-nucleation layer would function as a back-barrier and no compensation doping would be required. Furthermore, growth times would be decreased leading to reduced epi-wafer costs. However, worse thermal behavior could be expected due to the smaller separation between the device and the high thermal boundary resistance of the AlN-nucleation layer [141]. Using



Figure 4.9: Filling time dependent DCT measurements for devices with back barriers. The off-state voltage was $(V_{GS}, V_{DS}) = (-4.5, 30)$ V and the on-state voltage was (1,7) V.

a thin GaN buffer has previously been investigated with poor results [142, 143, 144]. In these cases the low crystalline quality impede the HEMT performance significantly. However, using an optimized AlN-nucleation process [5], thin HEMT structures of high quality have been achieved in this thesis. The epi-structure design is presented in Fig. 4.10. For an epi-structure with a 200 nm thick GaN layer excellent values of μ and n_s were measured (2050 cm²/Vs, $1.1 \cdot 10^{13}$ cm⁻²) using van der Pauw structures, showing no indication of low crystalline quality around the 2DEG. HEMT devices were fabricated in order to evaluate the performance also for larger electric fields.

DC-characteristics The output characteristics are presented in Fig. 4.11a. The low on-resistance was achieved through a combination of low R_{sh} and low R_C (0.3 Ω mm). No short channel effects are present, as indicated by an extracted DIBL of 1.0 mV/V at 27 V. This value can be compared to 1.2 mV/V for a C-doped buffer with ~ 2 μ m thick buffer (paper [C]). Furthermore, the thermal performance does not

2	CaN		
2 1111	GaN		
10 nm	Al _{0.30} Ga _{0.70} N		
1 nm	AIN		
200 nm	GaN		
	AIN-nucleation		
	SiC		

Figure 4.10: Design of the thin HEMT epi-structure.



Figure 4.11: Output (a) and transfer (b) characteristics measured for devices with $L_g = 200$ nm. In (a) $\Delta V_{GS} = 0.5$ V and the largest current is measured for $V_{GS} = 1$ V. In (b) the solid line is I_{DS} and the dashed line is I_{GS} , the measurements are performed at $V_{DS} = 10$ V.

seem to be severely degraded by the thin GaN buffer. In the transfer characteristics a clear pinch-off behavior and a large transconductance (450 mS/mm) are found, Fig. 4.11b. For compensation doped buffers using the same barrier design the transconductance is usually closer to 400 mS/mm (paper [E]).

DCT evaluation An extensive DCT evaluation was performed in order to identify important trapping processes. Temperature dependent DCT measurements are presented in Fig. 4.12a. One trap, with and emission time of around 10 μ s were identified. However, no temperature dependence was seen. This most likely implies that the trap mechanism



Figure 4.12: (a) Temperature and (b) filling time dependent DCT measurements for the thin buffer sample. The high stress voltage was $(V_{GS}, V_{DS}) = (V_{P}-2,50)$ V and the low stress voltage was (1,7) V. A filling time of 1 ms was used in (a) and the measurements in (b) were performed at 20 °C.

is governed by tunneling [145].

Filling time dependent measurements are performed at room temperature to gain further insight in to the trap's origin, Fig. 4.12b. A large dependence on filling time is found for the amplitude of the trap, indicating that it is due to extended defects. Probably, the trap is due to dislocations in the AlN-nucleation layer which are accessed through a tunneling process.

4.5 The impact of buffer design on output power

Load-pull measurements were performed as an application relevant comparison between the various buffer designs that have been investigated in this thesis, Table 4.1. The measurements were performed at 30 GHz with a quiescent $V_{\rm DS}$ of 10 and 30 V, and a quiescent drain current of around 10 % of $I_{\rm DSS}$. The load and source impedance were optimized for maximum output power. For comparison, Table 4.2 contains literature values of achievable output power at similar frequencies for the different buffer designs.

Low:C does not suffer from buffer related dispersive effects and therefore deliver the largest output power of all samples in this thesis. This was somewhat unexpected given the similar performance to Stepped:C in paper [C]. However, the load-pull measurements in paper [C] were performed at $V_{DSQ} = 15$ V, for which the trapping effects in Stepped:C were limited. This clearly exemplifies the importance of evaluating buffer trapping effects at relevant operating voltages. Comparing to literature values of uid GaN buffers the Low:C sample offers exceptional performance. However, for all of these devices the efficiency is fairly limited, most likely due to difficulties in reaching pinch-off. Therefore, uid GaN buffers are not desirable in real applications since this will decrease their reliability [87].

The C-doped devices in this thesis performed similarly (except for High:C which is also limited by a small gain at this frequency). For the low V_{DSQ} all of them supplied output powers in line of what is expected from the DC-data. However, for the large V_{DSQ} they all suffered from trapping effects, limiting the maximum output power and decreasing the efficiency. Compared to the literature values in [133], the C-doped devices in this thesis perform significantly worse. This should partially be related to the larger n_s ($1.8 \cdot 10^{13}$ cm⁻²) and thinner barrier layer (giving less short channel effects) in [133], but could also be related to a different doping profile which unfortunately is not disclosed. The Fe-doped device showed both increased output power and efficiency when increasing V_{DSQ} from 10 to 30 V. However, compared to Low:C the output power is obviously lower, indicating that the Fe-induced trapping limits the output power in this case. Similar results have been found in [110, 111].

BB2 offered performance in line with the C-doped GaN buffers while the output power of BB1 was very limited. This was expected from the lower current of BB1 and the extensive trapping found in Fig. 4.9. Comparing to the literature, the output power of BB2 is similar to that reported in [149] but significantly lower than in [150]. In [149] the AlGaN back barrier was grown directly on the nucleation layer (similar to this work) but in [150] the AlGaN back barrier was combined with a C-doped GaN buffer. Possibly, the lower output power for the devices in this thesis (and in [149]) can be explained by thermal issues or increased trapping due to worse crystalline quality.

Devices on the thin HEMT structure showed excellent performance, similar to the Exp:Fe sample. However, comparing to the Low:C sample it is clear that the trap identified in the DCT measurements limit performance. This is further indicated by the decrease in efficiency when increasing V_{DSQ} from 10 V to 30 V. To improve the output power further, structural improvements of the AlN-nucleation layer should be prioritized. Nevertheless, the thin HEMT structure offers competitive performance already at this stage.

In conclusion, the results in this thesis indicate that Fe-doped buffers remain the benchmark which other buffer designs should be compared to. The uid GaN buffers supply the highest output power but is limited in efficiency and reliability. The extensive trapping effects in C-doped buffers needs to be addressed in order establish this as a viable option for microwave applications. Back barrier designs also requires further optimization to minimize trapping and thermal effects. The thin buffer structure is an interesting option that showed performance in line with the Fe-doped buffer. However, also in this case the trapping effects reduced the achievable output power. For C-doped GaN, AlGaN back barrier, and thin buffer designs, improving the crystalline quality is believed to be a possible route for enhanced performance.

	V_{DSQ} =	$V_{DSQ} = 10 V$		$V_{DSQ} = 30 V$	
Device	P _{out}	PAE	P _{out}	PAE	
[Ref.]	(W/mm)	(%)	(W/mm)	(%)	
Low:C [C]	1.8	20	5.7	20	
High:C [C]	0.3	3	0.1	1	
Stepped:C [C]	1.5	30	3.3	23	
Extrinsic:C [D]	1.0	30	2.0	15	
Exp:C [E]	1.8	26	2.6	15	
Stepped:C [E]	1.6	30	2.5	15	
Exp:Fe [E]	1.3	20	3.9	25	
BB1	0.7	30	0.5	5	
BB2	1.1	30	2.7	20	
Thin buffer	1.8	35	3.9	25	

Table 4.1: Load-pull measurements for devices with various buffer designs. Listed are the maximum output power and associated power added efficiency at two quiescent bias points. The devices have a gate length of 100 nm and source drain distance of ~2.8 μ m.

Ref.	Barrier	$V_{\rm DSQ}$ (V)	freq. (GHz)	${ m P_{out}} \ ({ m W/mm})$	PAE (%)			
uid GaN buffers								
[146]	$\begin{array}{c} {\rm GaN/Al_{0.31}Ga_{0.69}N} \\ (1/25 \ {\rm nm}) \end{array}$	35	18	5.1	20			
[147]	$[In_{0.15}Al_{0.85}N/AlN \\ (8/1 \text{ nm}) $	15	18	2.9	28			
[148]	$\begin{array}{c} {\rm GaN/Al_{0.25}Ga_{0.75}N} \\ (2/25 \ {\rm nm}) \end{array}$	30	30	4.0	15			
C-doped GaN buffers								
[133]	$\begin{array}{c} \text{AlN} \\ (4 \text{ nm}) \end{array}$	30	18	6.3	40			
[133]	AlN (4 nm)	20	40	4.7	30			
Back barrier								
[149]	$\frac{\rm In_{0.17}Al_{0.83}N/AlN}{(7/1 \text{ nm})}$	20	29	2.1	22			
[150]	$\frac{\rm InAlGaN/AlN}{\rm (6/1 \ nm)}$	20	30	6.0	36			

Table 4.2: Literature values of achievable output power for devices with different buffer designs.

Chapter 5

Conclusions and future outlook

The aim of this thesis has been to optimize the buffer design to improve the performance in terms of output power and time variant effects in GaN HEMTs for microwave applications. The thesis has also presented work done to reduce losses in GaN HEMT technology, in the form of low resisitve ohmic contacts and improved barrier quality.

A Ta-based recessed ohmic contact have been presented which show close to state of the art performance with an R_C of 0.14 Ω mm. Compared to the most commonly used, Ti/Al/Ni/Au contact, the contact presented in this thesis requires lower anneal temperature (550-600 °C) leading to better edge acuity and no degradation of the 2DEG sheet resistance. The lowest contact resistance was found for a recess depth close to the barrier thickness. A general problem for recess etched contacts is the optimization of the etching depth and the repeatability of the etching process. Future work should focus on increasing the repeatability of the ohmic process rather than just aiming for low R_C 's. The results presented in this thesis also hint that a more repeatable process might be possible by etching deeper, well past the barrier layer. Investigations into these areas are currently ongoing, showing promising results.

The higher mobility associated with the inclusion of an AlN-exclusion layer (>2000 cm²/Vs) can also be achieved by a more well defined Al-GaN/GaN interface. The sharper interface leads to less dispersion and lower C_{gs} at large drain bias compared to a diffuse AlGaN/GaN interface. Furthermore, the sharp AlGaN/GaN interface enables a low access resistance while simultaneously allowing for easier formation of ohmic contacts, which can be hindered by the large band gap of AlN. Possibly, the high mobility achieved with an AlN-exclusion layer is not only related to the large band gap of AlN but also due to a good interface quality, inherently achieved by the large growth difference between GaN and AlN growth.

The trapping behavior of C-doped buffers for microwave applications have been thoroughly investigated in this thesis. The lower Cconcentrations required for microwave applications compared to power applications is showed to result in n-type GaN. Consequently, the trapping behavior of such buffers is not limited by the formation of a pndiode between the GaN buffer and the 2DEG. Instead, it is suggested that trapping at dislocations covered with C-clusters is the main source of dispersion. The trapping effects severely limited the output power to 2.5 W/mm at 30 GHz. Future work should target C-doped buffers with reduced dislocation densities. This could verify the ideas presented in this thesis and possibly reduce the dispersive effects in C-doped buffers. Freestanding GaN substrates could be used to decrease the dislocation density by at least two orders of magnitude [151]. The C-incorporation would have to be controlled using an external C-source, as not to degrade the crystal quality.

AlGaN Back back barriers with a large C-concentration is shown to suffer from extensive trapping effects. However, a epi-structure with a 100 nm uid GaN channel showed performance in line with C-doped GaN buffers. Similarly to the C-doped buffers, the trapping in the back barrier devices also seemed to be enabled by extended defects. Therefore, improved crystal quality is of large interest also in this case. Furthermore, the C-concentration should be minimized in the back barrier to assess its contribution to the total trapping behavior. In the literature, the best results seems to be enabled when the back barrier is grown on a GaN buffer layer. Future works should adopt this method and investigate how this affects trapping.

The thin HEMT structure showed excellent DC characteristics and RF output power (3.9 W/mm at 30 GHz). However, the performance is limited by trapping at dislocations, most probably originating from the AlN-nucleation layer. Therefore, future work should focus on further optimizing the nucleation layer. Furthermore, an extensive thermal evaluation should be undertaken, to verify that the thin GaN buffer does not degrade the thermal performance of the epi-structure.

Looking in to the future of epi-design for GaN HEMTs, N-polar structures offer interesting opportunities for high frequency operation. The N-polar case intrinsically offers a good electron confinement due to the high energy barrier below the 2DEG and the polarization fields "pushing" the electrons upwards [152]. Furthermore, both surface and buffer trapping effects can be mitigated in interesting ways [153]. For a highly optimized N-polar material an extremely impressive output power density of 6.5 W/mm at 94 GHz has been reported [152].

Chapter 6

Summary of appended papers

This chapter summarizes the publications which are included in this thesis. An abstract and my contributions are presented for each publication.

Paper A

J. Bergsten, A. Malmros, M. Tordjman, P. Gamarra, C. Lacam, M.-A. di Forte-Poisson, and N. Rorsman, "Low resistive Au-free, Ta-based, recessed ohmic contacts to InAlN/AlN/GaN heterostructures," *Semicon- ductor Science and Technology*, vol. 30, iss. 10, pp. 105034, 2015.

The paper investigates the formation of recessed, Ta/Al/Ta, ohmic contacts to an InAlN/AlN/GaN heterostructures. A contact resistance (R_C) as low as 0.14 Ω mm is found for contacts where the recess etch has stopped just above the 2D electron gas channel. At this depth the contacts are also found to be less sensitive to other process parameters, such as anneal duration and temperature. For deeper recesses R_C remains low but requires annealing at higher temperatures for contact formation. An optimum bottom Ta layer thickness of 5–10 nm is found. Two reliability experiments preliminary confirm the stability of the recessed contacts.

My contribution: I designed the experiments, fabricated the teststructures, performed the measurements, and wrote the paper with feedback from the co-authors.

Paper B

J. Bergsten, J.-T. Chen, S. Gustafsson, A. Malmros, U. Forsberg, M. Thorsell, E. Janzén, and N. Rorsman, "Performance Enhancement of Microwave GaN HEMTs Without an AlN-Exclusion Layer Using an Optimized AlGaN/GaN Interface Growth Process," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 63, iss. 1, pp. 333-338, 2015.

High-electron mobility transistors (HEMTs) with different sharpness of the AlGaN/GaN interface are investigated. Two structures, one with an optimized AlGaN/GaN interface and another with an unoptimized, are grown using hot-wall metal-organic chemical vapor deposition. The electron mobility of the optimized structure is 1760 cm²/Vs as compared with 1660 cm²/Vs for the unoptimized structure. The higher mobility manifests as lower parasitic resistance yielding a better dc and high-frequency performance. A small-signal equivalent model is extracted, which indicate a lower electron penetration into the buffer in the optimized sample. Pulsed-IV measurements imply that the sharper interface provides less dispersive effects at large drain biases.

My contribution: I fabricated the HEMTs, performed the measurements as well as the physical and compact modelling, and wrote the paper with feedback from the co-authors.

Paper C

S. Gustafsson, J.-T. Chen, **J. Bergsten**, U. Forsberg, M. Thorsell, E. Janzén, and N. Rorsman, "Dispersive Effects in Microwave AlGaN/AlN/GaN HEMTs With Carbon-Doped Buffer," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 62, iss. 7, pp. 2162-2169, 2015.

HEMTs have been fabricated on three epitaxial structures: two with uniform C doping profile but different concentration and one with a stepped doping profile. The leakage currents in OFF-state at 10 V drain voltage were in the same order of magnitude (10^{-4} A/mm) for the high-doped and stepped-doped buffer. The highly doped material had a current collapse (CC) of 79 % compared with 16 % for the steppeddoped material under dynamic I–V conditions. The low-doped material had low CC (5 %) but poor buffer isolation. Trap characterization revealed that the high-doped material had two trap levels at 0.15 and 0.59 eV, while the lowly doped material had only one trap level at 0.59 eV. This paper indicates that carbon is a potential substitute to iron as a deep level acceptor.

My contribution: JB and NR fabricated the HEMTs, SG and JB performed the measurements and wrote the paper with feedback from the co-authors.

Paper D

J. Bergsten, X. Li, D. Nilsson, Ö. Danielsson, H. Pedersen, E. Janzén, U. Forsberg, and N. Rorsman, "AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors with intentionally doped GaN buffer using propane as carbon precursor," *Japanese Journal of Applied Physics*, vol. 55, pp. 05FK02, 2016.

AlGaN/GaN epi-structures are grown by metalorganic chemical vapor deposition using propane as precursor to achieve a C-doped GaN buffer. This approach allows for optimization of the GaN growth conditions without compromising material quality to achieve semi-insulating properties. HEMTs are fabricated and evaluated in terms of isolation and dispersion. Good isolation with OFF-state currents of $2 \cdot 10^{-6}$ A/mm, breakdown fields of 70 V/ μ m, and low drain induced barrier lowering of 0.13 mV/V are found. However, severe dispersive effects are identified using pulsed-IV measurements. Current collapse and knee walkout effects limit the maximum output power to 1.3 W/mm.

My contribution: I fabricated the HEMTs, performed the measurements, and wrote the paper with feedback from the co-authors.

Paper E

J. Bergsten, M. Thorsell, J.-T. Chen, D. Adolph, O. Kordina, E. Ö. Sveinbjörnsson, and N. Rorsman, "Electron Trapping in Extended Defects in Microwave AlGaN/GaN HEMTs with Carbon Doped Buffers," *Submitted to IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*.

AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors (HEMTs) fabricated on epi-structures with C-doped buffers are investigated. Changes in growth parameters are used to control the C-concentration in metalorganic chemical vapor deposition. The C-concentration is low enough to result in n-type GaN. Reference devices are also fabricated on a structure using Fe as dopant, to exclude any process related variations and provide a relevant benchmark. Pulsed-IV measurements show extensive dispersion in the C-doped devices, with values of dynamic R_{ON} 3-4 times larger than in the DC-case. In drain current transient measurements the trap filling time is varied, finding large prevalence of trapping at dislocations for the C-doped samples. The measurements indicate that clusters of C around the dislocations are the main cause for the increased dispersion.

My contribution: I designed the experiments, fabricated the HEMTs, performed the measurements, analyzed the results, and wrote the paper with feedback from the co-authors.
Acknowledgements

I would like to extend my thanks to the people who made this work possible.

I would like to thank Prof. Herbert Zirath for giving me the opportunity to work and conduct this research at the Microwave Electronics Laboratory.

My supervisor Prof. Niklas Rorsman for his guidance, inspiration, and support. Despite your busy schedule you always make time and show interest in my daily struggles. This work would not have been possible without you.

My co-supervisor Docent Mattias Thorsell for fruitful discussions and putting up with my endless questions concerning measurements.

I would like to thank Anna Malmros for helping me in the cleanroom, helping me understand the subject and being a nice roommate.

I would also like to extend my thanks to the staff in the MC2 Nanofabrication Laboratory for providing assistance regarding any question or problem I had during my work in the clean room.

My friends and fellow colleagues at Chalmers for making it fun to go to work and for helping me now and then. Special thanks to Sebastian Gustafsson for sharing this journey with me, making work more fun, and for your considerable assistance in the measurement lab.

Finally, I would like to thank Sara, my family and my friends for supporting me during this period.

This work was supported in part by the by the Swedish Defence Materiel Administration (FMV), in part by the Swedish Governmental Agency for Innovation Systems (VINNOVA), in part by the Swedish Research Council (VR), and in part by the Swedish Foundation for Strategic Research (SSF).

Bibliography

- Edward A. Jones, Fei Fred Wang, and Daniel Costinett, Review of Commercial GaN Power Devices and GaN-Based Converter Design Challenges, IEEE Journal of Emerging and Selected Topics in Power Electronics 4 (2016), no. 3, 707–719.
- [2] Yan Tang, Keisuke Shinohara, Dean Regan, Andrea Corrion, David Brown, Joel Wong, Adele Schmitz, Helen Fung, Samuel Kim, and Miroslav Micovic, Ultrahigh-Speed GaN High-Electron-Mobility Transistors With fT/fmax of 454/444 GHz, IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 36 (2015), no. 6, 549–551.
- [3] K Makiyama, S Ozaki, T Ohki, N Okamoto, Y Minoura, Y Niida, Y Kamada, K Joshin, K Watanabe, and Y Miyamoto, *Collapse-Free High Power InAlGaN / GaN-HEMT with 3 W / mm at 96 GHz*, 2015 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (2015), 213–216.
- [4] J. J. Komiak, GaN HEMT, Microwave Magazine, IEEE 16 (2015), no. 3, 97–105.
- [5] Jr Tai Chen, James W. Pomeroy, Niklas Rorsman, Chao Xia, Chariya Virojanadara, Urban Forsberg, Martin Kuball, and Erik Janzén, Low thermal resistance of a GaN-on-SiC transistor structure with improved structural properties at the interface, Journal of Crystal Growth 428 (2015), 54–58.
- [6] Weili Liu and Alexander A. Balandin, Thermal conduction in AlxGa1xN alloys and thin films, Journal of Applied Physics 97 (2005), no. 7, 1–6.
- [7] O. Ambacher, J. Smart, J. R. Shealy, N. G. Weimann, K. Chu, M. Murphy, W. J. Schaff, L. F. Eastman, R. Dimitrov, L. Wittmer, M. Stutzmann, W. Rieger, and J. Hilsenbeck, *Two-dimensional electron gases* induced by spontaneous and piezoelectric polarization charges in N- and

Ga-face AlGaN/GaN heterostructures, Journal of Applied Physics 85 (1999), no. 6, 3222.

- [8] Yue Hao, Jin Feng Zhang, and Jin Cheng Zhang, Nitride Wide Bandgap Semiconductor Material and Electronic Devices, CRC Press, 2016.
- [9] Masaru Ochiai, Mitsutoshi Akita, Yutaka Ohno, Shigeru Kishimoto, Kouichi Maezawa, and Takashi Mizutani, AlGaN/GaN Heterostructure Metal-Insulator-Semiconductor High-Electron-Mobility Transistors with Si3N4 Gate Insulator, Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 42 (2003), no. Part 1, No. 4B, 2278–2280.
- [10] J. P. Ibbetson, P. T. Fini, K. D. Ness, S. P. DenBaars, J. S. Speck, and U. K. Mishra, *Polarization effects, surface states, and the source of electrons in AlGaN/GaN heterostructure field effect transistors*, Applied Physics Letters **77** (2000), no. 2, 250.
- [11] Ramakrishna Vetury, Naiqain Q. Zhang, Stacia Keller, and Umesh K. Misha, The impact of surface states on the DC and RF characteristics of AlGaN/GaN HFETs, IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 48 (2001), no. 3, 560–566.
- [12] Bruce M. Green, Kenneth K. Chu, E. Martin Chumbes, Joseph A. Smart, James R. Shealy, and Lester F. Eastman, *Effect of surface passivation on* the microwave characteristics of undoped AlGaN/GaN HEMT's, IEEE Electron Device Letters 21 (2000), no. 6, 268–270.
- [13] T. Mizutani, Y. Ohno, M. Akita, S. Kishimoto, and K. Maezawa, Current collapse in AlGaN/GaN HEMTs investigated by electrical and optical characterizations, Physica Status Solidi (A) Applied Research 194 (2002), no. 2 SPEC., 447–451.
- [14] Hyungtak Kim, Richard M. Thompson, Vinayak Tilak, Thomas R. Prunty, James R. Shealy, and Lester F. Eastman, *Effects of SiN passi*vation and high-electric field on AlGaN-GaN HFET degradation, IEEE Electron Device Letters 24 (2003), no. 7, 421–423.
- [15] Takashi Mizutani, Yutaka Ohno, Shigeru Kishimoto, and Koichi Maezawa, A study on current collapse in AlGaN/GaN HEMTs induced by bias stress, IEEE Trans. Electron Devices 50 (2003), no. 10, 2015– 2020.
- [16] Ryuusuke Nakasaki, Tamotsu Hashizume, and Hideki Hasegawa, Insulator-GaN interface structures formed by plasma-assisted chemical vapor deposition, Physica E: Low-Dimensional Systems and Nanostructures 7 (2000), no. 3, 953–957.
- [17] Casey J. Kirkpatrick, Bongmook Lee, Rahul Suri, Xiangyu Yang, and

Veena Misra, Atomic Layer Deposition of SiO2 for AlGaN/GaN MOS-HFETs, IEEE Electron Device Letters **33** (2012), no. 9, 1240–1242.

- [18] Tamotsu Hashizume, Shinya Ootomo, Takanori Inagaki, and Hideki Hasegawa, Surface passivation of GaN and GaN/AlGaN heterostructures by dielectric films and its application to insulated-gate heterostructure transistors, Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics and Nanometer Structures 21 (2003), no. 4, 1828.
- [19] Sheng Xun Zhao, Xiao Yong Liu, Lin Qing Zhang, Hong Fan Huang, Jin Shan Shi, and Peng Fei Wang, Impacts of Thermal Atomic Layer-Deposited AlN Passivation Layer on GaN-on-Si High Electron Mobility Transistors, Nanoscale Research Letters 11 (2016), no. 1, 137.
- [20] S. Arulkumaran, T. Egawa, H. Ishikawa, T. Jimbo, and Y. Sano, Surface passivation effects on AlGaN/GaN high-electron-mobility transistors with SiO2, Si3N4, and silicon oxynitride, Applied Physics Letters 84 (2004), no. 4, 613–615.
- [21] R. C. Fitch, D. E. Walker, K. D. Chabak, J. K. Gillespie, M. Kossler, M. Trejo, A. Crespo, L. Liu, T. S. Kang, C.-F. Lo, F. Ren, D. J. Cheney, and S. J. Pearton, *Comparison of passivation layers for AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors*, Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B, Nanotechnology and Microelectronics: Materials, Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena **29** (2011), no. 6, 061204.
- [22] Ji Ha Kim, Hong Goo Choi, Min Woo Ha, Hong Joo Song, Cheong Hyun Roh, Jun Ho Lee, Jung Ho Park, and Cheol Koo Hahn, Effects of nitridebased plasma pretreatment prior to SiNxpassivation in AlGaN/GaN highelectron-mobility transistors on silicon substrates, Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 49 (2010), no. 4 PART 2, 1–4.
- [23] David J. Meyer, Joseph R. Flemish, and Joan M. Redwing, SF6O2 plasma effects on silicon nitride passivation of AlGaNGaN high electron mobility transistors, Applied Physics Letters 89 (2006), no. 22, 1–4.
- [24] Brianna S. Eller, Jialing Yang, and Robert J. Nemanich, *Electronic sur-face and dielectric interface states on GaN and AlGaN*, Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology A: Vacuum, Surfaces, and Films **31** (2013), no. 5, 050807.
- [25] Greeg H. Jessen, Robert C. Fitch, James K. Gillespie, Glen Via, Antonio Crespo, Derrick Langley, Daniel J. Denninghoff, Manuel Trejo, and Eric R. Heller, Short-channel effect limitations on high-frequency operation of AlGaN/ GaN HEMTs for T-gate devices, IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 54 (2007), no. 10, 2589–2597.
- [26] Y.-F. Wu, M Moore, A Saxler, T Wisleder, and P Parikh, 40-W/mm

double field-plated GaN HEMTs, Proc. 64th Device Res. Conf., 2006, pp. 151–152.

- [27] Wataru Saito, Tomohiro Nitta, Yorito Kakiuchi, Yasunobu Saito, Kunio Tsuda, Ichiro Omura, and Masakazu Yamaguchi, Suppression of dynamic on-resistance increase and gate charge measurements in highvoltage GaN-HEMTs with optimized field-plate structure, IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 54 (2007), no. 8, 1825–1830.
- [28] Urban Forsberg, A. Lundskog, A. Kakanakova-Georgieva, R. Ciechonski, and E. Janzén, *Improved hot-wall MOCVD growth of highly uniform AlGaN/GaN/HEMT structures*, Journal of Crystal Growth **311** (2009), no. 10, 3007–3010.
- [29] X. Q. Shen, T. Takahashi, X. Rong, G. Chen, X. Q. Wang, B. Shen, H. Matsuhata, T. Ide, and M. Shimizu, Role of an ultra-thin AlN/GaN superlattice interlayer on the strain engineering of GaN films grown on Si(110) and Si(111) substrates by plasma-assisted molecular beam epitaxy, Applied Physics Letters 103 (2013), no. 23, 231908.
- [30] Michael L Schuette, Andrew Ketterson, Bo Song, Edward Beam, Tsomin Chou, Manyam Pilla, Hua-quen Tserng, Xiang Gao, Shiping Guo, Patrick J Fay, Huili Grace Xing, and Paul Saunier, *Gate-recessed Integrated E/D GaN HEMT Technology With fT/fmax > 300 GHz*, IEEE Electron Device Letters **34** (2013), no. 6, 741–743.
- [31] Subramaniam Arulkumaran, Takashi Egawa, and Hiroyasu Ishikawa, Studies on the influences of i-GaN, n-GaN, p-GaN and InGaN cap layers in AlGaN/GaN high-electron-mobility transistors, Japanese Journal of Applied Physics, Part 1: Regular Papers and Short Notes and Review Papers 44 (2005), no. 5 A, 2953–2960.
- [32] Joel Wong, Keisuke Shinohara, Andrea L. Corrion, David F. Brown, Zenon Carlos, Adam Williams, Yan Tang, John F. Robinson, Isaac Khalaf, Helen Fung, Adele Schmitz, Thomas Oh, Samuel Kim, Steven Chen, Shawn Burnham, Alex Margomenos, and Miroslav Micovic, Novel asymmetric slant field plate technology for high-speed low-dynamic Ron E/Dmode GaN HEMTs, IEEE Electron Device Letters **38** (2017), no. 1, 95–98.
- [33] Michael Knetzger, Elke Meissner, Joff Derluyn, Marianne Germain, and Jochen Friedrich, Correlation of carbon doping variations with the vertical breakdown of GaN-on-Si for power electronics, Microelectronics Reliability 66 (2016), 16–21.
- [34] M. Fagerlind, F. Allerstam, E. Ö Sveinbjörnsson, N. Rorsman, A. Kakanakova-Georgieva, A. Lundskog, U. Forsberg, and E. Janzén, *Investigation of the interface between silicon nitride passivations and*

AlGaN/AlN/GaN heterostructures by C(V) characterization of metalinsulator- semiconductor-heterostructure capacitors, Journal of Applied Physics **108** (2010), no. 1, 014508.

- [35] Dong Seup Lee, Zhihong Liu, and Tomás Palacios, GaN high electron mobility transistors for sub-millimeter wave applications, Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 53 (2014), no. 10, 100212.
- [36] Somna S. Mahajan, Anuradha Dhaul, Robert Laishram, Sonalee Kapoor, Seema Vinayak, and B.K. Sehgal, *Micro-structural evaluation* of *Ti/Al/Ni/Au* ohmic contacts with different *Ti/Al* thicknesses in *Al-GaN/GaN* HEMTs, Materials Science and Engineering: B 183 (2014), 47–53.
- [37] Cong Wang and Nam-Young Kim, Electrical characterization and nanoscale surface morphology of optimized Ti/Al/Ta/Au ohmic contact for AlGaN/GaN HEMT., Nanoscale research letters 7 (2012), no. 1, 107.
- [38] HP Xin, S Poust, W Sutton, and D Li, Optimization of AlGaN/GaN HEMT ohmic contacts for improved surface morphology with low contact resistance, CS Mantech Conference, 2010, pp. 5–8.
- [39] Seongjun Kim, Hee Jin Kim, Suk Choi, Jae-hyun Ryou, Russell D Dupuis, Kwang-soon Ahn Ä, and Hyunsoo Kim Ä, Electrical Characteristics of Ti/Al Contacts on AlInN:Mg / GaN Heterostructures, Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 52 (2013), no. 10MA07, 9–12.
- [40] Fitih M. Mohammed, Liang Wang, Ilesanmi Adesida, and Eddie Piner, The role of barrier layer on Ohmic performance of TiAl-based contact metallizations on AlGaNGaN heterostructures, Journal of Applied Physics 100 (2006), no. 2, 023708.
- [41] K Shiojima and N Shigekawa, Thermal stability of sheet resistance in Al-GaN/GaN 2DEG structure, Physica Status Solidi C: Conferences, vol. 0, 2002, pp. 397–400.
- [42] C.-F. Lo, L. Liu, C. Y. Chang, F. Ren, V. Craciun, S. J. Pearton, Y. W. Heo, O. Laboutin, and J. W. Johnson, Annealing temperature dependence of Ohmic contact resistance and morphology on InAlN/GaN high electron mobility transistor structures, Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics and Nanometer Structures 29 (2011), no. 2, 021002.
- [43] Rumin Gong, Jinyan Wang, Shenghou Liu, Zhihua Dong, Min Yu, Cheng P. Wen, Yong Cai, and Baoshun Zhang, Analysis of surface roughness in Ti/Al/Ni/Au Ohmic contact to AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors, Applied Physics Letters 97 (2010), no. 6, 14–17.

- [44] M. E. Lin, Z. Ma, F. Y. Huang, Z. F. Fan, L. H. Allen, and H. Morkoc, Low resistance ohmic contacts on wide band-gap GaN, Applied Physics Letters 64 (1994), no. 8, 1003.
- [45] Zhifang Fan, S. Noor Mohammad, Wook Kim, Ozgur Aktas, Andrei E. Botchkarev, and Hadis Morkoc, Very low resistance multilayer Ohmic contact to n-GaN, Applied Physics Letters 68 (1996), no. 12, 1672.
- [46] Abhishek Motayed, Ravi Bathe, Mark C. Wood, Ousmane S. Diouf, R. D. Vispute, and S. Noor Mohammad, *Electrical, thermal, and mi*crostructural characteristics of Ti/Al/Ti/Au multilayer Ohmic contacts to n-type GaN, Journal of Applied Physics 93 (2003), no. 2, 1087.
- [47] B. Van Daele, G. Van Tendeloo, W. Ruythooren, J. Derluyn, M. R. Leys, and M. Germain, *The role of Al on Ohmic contact formation on n-type GaN and AlGaNGaN*, Applied Physics Letters 87 (2005), no. 6, 061905.
- [48] A. Fontserè, A. Pérez-Toms, M. Placidi, J. Llobet, N. Baron, S. Chenot, Y. Cordier, J. C. Moreno, P. M. Gammon, M. R. Jennings, M. Porti, A. Bayerl, M. Lanza, and M. Nafría, *Micro and nano analysis of 0.2* Ωmm Ti/Al/Ni/Au ohmic contact to AlGaN/GaN, Applied Physics Letters **99** (2011), no. 21, 2–5.
- [49] K. Yu. Osipov, L. E. Velikovskiy, and V. a. Kagadei, Formation of Ta/Ti/Al/Mo/Au ohmic contacts to an AlGaN/AlN/GaN heterostructure grown on a silicon substrate, Semiconductors 48 (2014), no. 3, 387– 391.
- [50] Wael Jatal, Uwe Baumann, Katja Tonisch, Frank Schwierz, and Jörg Pezoldt, High-frequency performance of GaN high-electron mobility transistors on 3C-SiC/Si substrates with Au-free ohmic contacts, IEEE Electron Device Letters 36 (2015), no. 2, 123–125.
- [51] Jaesun Lee, Minjun Yan, Benedict Ofuonye, Jaehyung Jang, X. Gao, Shiping Guo, and Ilesanmi Adesida, Low resistance Mo/Al/Mo/Au ohmic contact scheme to InAlN/AlN/GaN heterostructure, Physica Status Solidi (a) 208 (2011), no. 7, 1538–1540.
- [52] DS Lee, Xiang Gao, Shiping Guo, David Kopp, Patrick Fay, and Tomás Palacios, 300-GHz InAlN/GaN HEMTs with InGaN back barrier, IEEE Electron Device Letters 32 (2011), no. 11, 1525–1527.
- [53] Olivier Jardel, Guillaume Callet, Jérémy Dufraisse, Michele Piazza, Nicolas Sarazin, Eric Chartier, Mourad Oualli, Raphaël Aubry, Tibault Reveyrand, Jean Claude Jacquet, Marie Antoinette Di Forte Poisson, Erwan Morvan, Stëphane Piotrowicz, and Sylvain L. Delage, *Electrical* performances of AlInN/GaN HEMTs. A comparison with AlGaN/GaN

HEMTs with similar technological process, International Journal of Microwave and Wireless Technologies **3** (2011), no. 3, 301–309.

- [54] Subramaniam Arulkumaran, Geok Ing Ng, Kumud Ranjan, Mohan Chandra Manoj Kumar, Siew Chuen Foo, Kian Siong Ang, Sahmuganathan Vicknesh, S B Dolmanan, Thirumaleshwara Bhat, and S. Tripathy, *Record-low contact resistance for InAlN / AlN / GaN high electron mobility transistors on Si with non-gold metal*, Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 54 (2015), no. 04DF12, 13–18.
- [55] Paul Saunier, Michael L Schuette, Tso Min Chou, Hua Quen Tserng, Andrew Ketterson, Edward Beam, Manyam Pilla, and Xiang Gao, In-AlN barrier scaled devices for very high fT and for low-voltage RF applications, IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 60 (2013), no. 10, 3099–3104.
- [56] S. Joglekar, M. Azize, M. Beeler, E. Monroy, and T. Palacios, Impact of recess etching and surface treatments on ohmic contacts regrown by molecular-beam epitaxy for AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors, Applied Physics Letters 109 (2016), no. 4, 041602.
- [57] Yuanzheng Yue, Zongyang Hu, Jia Guo, Berardi Sensale-Rodriguez, Guowang Li, Ronghua Wang, Faiza Faria, Bo Song, Xiang Gao, Shiping Guo, Thomas Kosel, Gregory Snider, Patrick Fay, Debdeep Jena, and Huili Grace Xing, Ultrascaled InAlN/GaN High Electron Mobility Transistors with Cutoff Frequency of 400 GHz, Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 52 (2013), no. 8S, 08JN14.
- [58] Jia Guo, Guowang Li, Faiza Faria, Yu Cao, Ronghua Wang, Jai Verma, Xiang Gao, Shiping Guo, Edward Beam, Andrew Ketterson, Michael Schuette, Paul Saunier, Senior Member, Mark Wistey, Debdeep Jena, and Huili Xing, *MBE-Regrown Ohmics in InAlN HEMTs With a Re*growth Interface Resistance of 0.05 Ωmm, IEEE Electron Device Letters **33** (2012), no. 4, 525–527.
- [59] Karol Čičo, Dagmar Gregušová, Štefan Gaži, Ján Šoltýs, Ján Kuzmík, Jean-François Carlin, Nicolas Grandjean, Dionýz Pogany, and Karol Fröhlich, Optimization of the ohmic contact processing in InAlN//GaN high electron mobility transistors for lower temperature of annealing, Physica Status Solidi (C) 7 (2010), no. 1, 108–111.
- [60] Liang Wang, Dong-Hyun Kim, and Ilesanmi Adesida, Direct contact mechanism of Ohmic metallization to AlGaN/GaN heterostructures via Ohmic area recess etching, Applied Physics Letters 95 (2009), no. 17, 172107.
- [61] J-c Gerbedoen, A Soltani, M Mattalah, A Telia, D Troadec, B Abdallah, E Gautron, and J-c De Jaeger, Study of Ohmic Contact Formation on

AlGaN / GaN HEMT with AlN spacer on Silicon Substrate, Proc. 4th EuMIC, 2009, pp. 136–139.

- [62] Martin Fagerlind and Niklas Rorsman, Optimization of recessed ohmic contacts for AlGaN/AlN/GaN heterostructures using C(V) characterization of MSHM structures, Physica Status Solidi (C) 8 (2011), no. 7-8, 2204–2206.
- [63] D. Buttari, A. Chini, G. Meneghesso, E. Zanoni, B. Moran, S. Heikman, N.Q. Zhang, L. Shen, R. Coffie, S.P. DenBaars, and U.K. Mishra, Systematic characterization of Cl2 reactive ion etching for improved ohmics in AlGaN/GaN HEMTs, IEEE Electron Device Letters 23 (2002), no. 2, 76–78.
- [64] G. Pozzovivo, J. Kuzmik, C. Giesen, M. Heuken, J. Liday, G. Strasser, and D. Pogany, Low resistance ohmic contacts annealed at 600 °C on a InAlN/GaN heterostructure with SiCl4-reactive ion etching surface treatment, Physica Status Solidi (C) Current Topics in Solid State Physics 6 (2009), no. SUPPL. 2, 999–1002.
- [65] Jinwook W. Chung, W E Hoke, E. Martin Chumbes, and Tomás Palacios, AlGaN/GaN HEMT With 300-GHz fmax, IEEE Electron Device Letters 31 (2010), no. 3, 195–197.
- [66] Hyung-seok Lee, Dong Seup Lee, and Tomas Palacios, AlGaN / GaN High-Electron-Mobility Transistors Fabricated Through a Au-Free Technology, IEEE Electron Device Letters 32 (2011), no. 5, 623–625.
- [67] Hector Leong, Reliably Obtaining Low Ohmic Contact Resistance in AlGaN/GaN HEMT Structures, Master's thesis, Linköping University, 2017.
- [68] Hsien Chin Chiu, Chao Hung Chen, Hsuan Ling Kao, Feng Tso Chien, Ping Kuo Weng, Yan Tang Gau, and Hao Wei Chuang, Sidewall defects of AlGaN/GaN HEMTs evaluated by low frequency noise analysis, Microelectronics Reliability 53 (2013), no. 12, 1897–1900.
- [69] Jin Yu Shiu, Jui Chien Huang, Vincent Desmaris, Chia Ta Chang, Chung Yu Lu, Kazuhide Kumakura, Toshiki Makimoto, Herbert Zirath, Niklas Rorsman, and Edward Yi Chang, Oxygen ion implantation isolation planar process for AlGaN/GaN HEMTs, IEEE Electron Device Letters 28 (2007), no. 6, 476–478.
- [70] Michael H. Leary and Jesus A. Del Alamo, Mesa-Sidewall Gate Leakage in InAlAs/InGaAs Heterostructure Field-Effect Transistors, IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 39 (1992), no. 9, 2037–2043.
- [71] S. O. Kucheyev, H. Boudinov, J. S. Williams, C. Jagadish, and G. Li,

Effect of irradiation temperature and ion flux on electrical isolation of GaN, Journal of Applied Physics **91** (2002), no. 7, 4117–4120.

- [72] S C Binari, H B Dietrich, G Kelner, L B Rowland, K Doverspike, D K Wickenden, S C Binari, and H Dietrich, *H*, *He*, and *N* implant isolation of n-type GaN, Journal of Applied Physics **3008** (1995), no. May, 3008– 3011.
- [73] M. Siva Pratap Reddy, Jung Hee Lee, and Ja Soon Jang, Electrical characteristics of TMAH-surface treated Ni/Au/Al2O3/GaN MIS Schottky structures, Electronic Materials Letters 10 (2014), no. 2, 411–416.
- [74] V Sindhuri, Dong-hyeok Son, Dong-gi Lee, Sunghwan Sakong, Yoon-ha Jeong, In-tak Cho, Jong-ho Lee, Yong-tae Kim, Sorin Cristoloveanu, Youngho Bae, Ki-sik Im, and Jung-hee Lee, *Microelectronic Engineering* 1 / f Noise Characteristics of AlGaN / GaN FinFETs with and without TMAH surface treatment, Microelectronic Engineering 147 (2015), 134– 136.
- [75] Sung Bum Bae, Ki Won Kim, Yong Soo Lee, Jung Hee Lee, Youngho Bae, and Sorin Cristoloveanu, Capacitance-voltage characterization of surface-treated Al 2O3/GaN metal-oxide-semiconductor structures, Microelectronic Engineering 109 (2013), 10–12.
- [76] Young Jun Yoon, Jae Hwa Seo, Min Su Cho, Hee-Sung Kang, Chul-Ho Won, In Man Kang, and Jung-Hee Lee, TMAH-based wet surface pretreatment for reduction of leakage current in AlGaN/GaN MIS-HEMTs, Solid-State Electronics 124 (2016), 54–57.
- [77] Yuhao Zhang, Min Sun, Hiu Yung Wong, Yuxuan Lin, Puneet Srivastava, Christopher Hatem, Mohamed Azize, Daniel Piedra, Lili Yu, Takamichi Sumitomo, Nelson De Almeida Braga, Rimvydas Vidas Mickevicius, and Tomás Palacios, Origin and Control of OFF-State Leakage Current in GaN-on-Si Vertical Diodes, IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 62 (2015), no. 7, 2155–2161.
- [78] M. Gurusinghe, S. Davidsson, and T. Andersson, Two-dimensional electron mobility limitation mechanisms in AlxGa1-xNGaN heterostructures, Physical Review B 72 (2005), no. 4, 045316.
- [79] D. Yu. Protasov, T. V. Malin, A. V. Tikhonov, A. F. Tsatsulnikov, and K. S. Zhuravlev, *Electron scattering in AlGaN/GaN heterostructures* with a two-dimensional electron gas, Semiconductors 47 (2013), no. 1, 33–44.
- [80] Takuma Nanjo, Muneyoshi Suita, Toshiyuki Oishi, Yuji Abe, Eiji Yagyu, Kiichi Yoshiara, and Yasunori Tokuda, Drivability Enhancement for Al-GaN/GaN High-Electron Mobility Transistors with AlN Spacer Layer

Using Si Ion Implantation Doping, Applied Physics Express 2 (2009), no. 3, 031003.

- [81] Subramaniam Arulkumaran, Geok Ing Ng, Vicknesh Sahmuganathan, Liu Zhihong, and Bryan Maung, Improved recess-ohmics in AlGaN/GaN high-electron-mobility transistors with AlN spacer layer on silicon substrate, Physica Status Solidi (C) 7 (2010), no. 10, 2412–2414.
- [82] Makoto Miyoshi, Atsushi Imanishi, Takashi Egawa, Hiroyasu Ishikawa, Kei Ichiro Asai, Tomohiko Shibata, Mitsuhiro Tanaka, and Osamu Oda, DC characteristics in high-quality AlGaN/AlN/GaN high-electronmobility transistors grown on AIN/sapphire templates, Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 44 (2005), no. 9 A, 6490–6494.
- [83] Jr-Tai Chen, Ingemar Persson, Daniel Nilsson, Chih-Wei Hsu, Justinas Palisaitis, Urban Forsberg, Per O. Å. Persson, and Erik Janzén, Roomtemperature mobility above 2200cm2/V·s of two-dimensional electron gas in a sharp-interface AlGaN/GaN heterostructure, Applied Physics Letters 106 (2015), no. 25, 251601.
- [84] Niklas Rorsman, Mikael Garcia, Christer Karlsson, and Herbert Zirath, Accurate small-signal modeling of HFET's for millimeter-wave applications, IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques 44 (1996), no. 3, 432–437.
- [85] R. S. Balmer, K. P. Hilton, K. J. Nash, M. J. Uren, D. J. Wallis, A. Wells, M. Missous, and T. Martin, *AlGaN/GaN microwave HFET including a thin AlN carrier exclusion layer*, Physica Status Solidi (C) 0 (2003), no. 7, 2331–2334.
- [86] Stephen W. Kaun, Peter G. Burke, Man Hoi Wong, Erin C H Kyle, Umesh K. Mishra, and James S. Speck, *Effect of dislocations on elec*tron mobility in AlGaN/GaN and AlGaN/AlN/GaN heterostructures, Applied Physics Letters **101** (2012), 262102.
- [87] D. Bisi, A. Stocco, I. Rossetto, M. Meneghini, F. Rampazzo, A. Chini, F. Soci, A. Pantellini, C. Lanzieri, P. Gamarra, C. Lacam, M. Tordjman, M.-a. di Forte-Poisson, D. De Salvador, M. Bazzan, G. Meneghesso, and E. Zanoni, *Effects of buffer compensation strategies on the electrical performance and RF reliability of AlGaN/GaN HEMTs*, Microelectronics Reliability **55** (2015), no. 9-10, 1662–1666.
- [88] M.J. Uren, K.J. Nash, R.S. Balmer, T Martin, E Morvan, N Caillas, S.L. Delage, D Ducatteau, B Grimbert, and J.C. De Jaeger, *Punch-through in short-channel AlGaN/GaN HFETs*, IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 53 (2006), no. 2, 395–398.
- [89] Feng Gao, Swee Ching Tan, Jesús A. del Alamo, Carl V. Thompson, and

Tomas Palacios, Impact of water-assisted electrochemical reactions on the OFF-state degradation of alGaN/gaN HEMTs, IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices **61** (2014), no. 2, 437–444.

- [90] Feng Gao, Bin Lu, Libing Li, Stephen Kaun, James S. Speck, Carl V. Thompson, and Tomás Palacios, *Role of oxygen in the OFF-state degra*dation of AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors, Applied Physics Letters **99** (2011), no. 22, 10–13.
- [91] Agostino Benvegnù, Davide Bisi, Sylvain Laurent, Matteo Meneghini, Gaudenzio Meneghesso, Denis Barataud, Enrico Zanoni, and Raymond Quere, Drain current transient and low-frequency dispersion characterizations in AlGaN/GaN HEMTs, International Journal of Microwave and Wireless Technologies 8 (2016), no. 4-5, 663–672.
- [92] Davide Bisi, Matteo Meneghini, Carlo De Santi, Alessandro Chini, Michael Dammann, Peter Bruckner, Michael Mikulla, Gaudenzio Meneghesso, and Enrico Zanoni, Deep-level characterization in GaN HEMTs-Part I: Advantages and limitations of drain current transient measurements, IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 60 (2013), no. 10, 3166–3175.
- [93] Gaudenzio Meneghesso, Matteo Meneghini, Davide Bisi, Isabella Rossetto, Andrea Cester, Umesh K Mishra, and Enrico Zanoni, Trapping phenomena in AlGaN/GaN HEMTs: a study based on pulsed and transient measurements, Semiconductor Science and Technology 28 (2013), no. 7, 074021.
- [94] Hideki Hasegawa and Masamichi Akazawa, Current collapse transient behavior and its mechanism in submicron-gate AlGaNGaN heterostructure transistors, Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B: Microelectronics and Nanometer Structures 27 (2009), no. 2009, 2048–2054.
- [95] Oleg Mitrofanov and Michael Manfra, Mechanisms of gate lag in GaN/AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors, Superlattices and Microstructures 34 (2003), no. 1-2, 33–53.
- [96] A. Hierro, A.R. Arehart, B. Heying, M. Hansen, J.S. Speck, U.K. Mishra, S.P. DenBaars, and S.A. Ringel, *Capture Kinetics of Electron Traps in MBE-Grown n-GaN*, physica status solidi (b) **228** (2001), no. 1, 309–313.
- [97] P. Omling, E. R. Weber, L. Montelius, H. Alexander, and J. Michel, Electrical properties of dislocations and point defects in plastically deformed silicon, Physical Review B 32 (1985), no. 10, 6571–6581.
- [98] Alessandro Chini, Fabio Soci, Matteo Meneghini, Gaudenzio Meneghesso, and Enrico Zanoni, Deep Levels Characterization in GaN HEMTs—Part II: Experimental and Numerical Evaluation of Self-

Heating Effects on the Extraction of Traps Activation Energy, IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices **60** (2013), no. 10, 3176–3182.

- [99] W. J. Moore, J. A. Freitas, G. C B Braga, R. J. Molnar, S. K. Lee, K. Y. Lee, and I. J. Song, *Identification of Si and O donors in hydride*vapor-phase epitaxial GaN, Applied Physics Letters **79** (2001), no. 16, 2570–2572.
- [100] Stephen W Kaun, Man Hoi Wong, Umesh K Mishra, James S Speck, and Hoi Wong, Correlation between threading dislocation density and sheet resistance of AlGaN/AlN/GaN heterostructures grown by plasmaassisted molecular beam epitaxy, Applied Physics Letters 100 (2012), no. 26, 262102.
- [101] R. Dimitrov, A. Mitchell, L. Wittmer, O. Ambacher, M. Stutzmann, J. Hilsenbeck, and W. Rieger, Comparison of N-face and Gaface AlGaN/GaN-Based High Electron Mobility Transistors Grown by Plasma-Induced Molecular Beam Epitaxy, Japanese Journal of Applied Physics 38 (1999), no. Part 1, No. 9A, 4962–4968.
- [102] D. F. Storm, D. S. Katzer, D. A. Deen, R. Bass, D. J. Meyer, J. A. Roussos, S. C. Binari, T. Paskova, E. A. Preble, and K. R. Evans, *Proximity effects of beryllium-doped GaN buffer layers on the electronic properties of epitaxial AlGaN/GaN heterostructures*, Solid-State Electronics 54 (2010), no. 11, 1470–1473.
- [103] Sten Heikman, Stacia Keller, Steven P. DenBaars, and Umesh K. Mishra, Growth of Fe doped semi-insulating GaN by metalorganic chemical vapor deposition, Applied Physics Letters 81 (2002), no. 3, 439–441.
- [104] S Heikman, S Keller, T Mates, S.P. DenBaars, and U.K. Mishra, Growth and characteristics of Fe-doped GaN, Journal of Crystal Growth 248 (2003), 513–517.
- [105] A. Y. Polyakov, N. B. Smirnov, A. V. Govorkov, T. G. Yugova, A. V. Markov, A. M. Dabiran, A. M. Wowchak, B. Cui, J. Xie, A. V. Osinsky, P. P. Chow, and S. J. Pearton, *Electrical properties of GaN (Fe) buffers for AlGaNGaN high electron mobility transistor structures*, Applied Physics Letters **92** (2008), no. 4, 1–4.
- [106] In-Hwan Lee, Alexander Y. Polyakov, Nikolai B. Smirnov, Cheol-Koo Hahn, and S. J. Pearton, *Spatial location of the Ec-0.6 eV electron trap* in AlGaN/GaN heterojunctions, Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B, Nanotechnology and Microelectronics: Materials, Processing, Measurement, and Phenomena **32** (2014), no. 5, 050602.
- [107] Matteo Meneghini, Isabella Rossetto, Davide Bisi, Antonio Stocco, Alessandro Chini, Alessio Pantellini, Claudio Lanzieri, Antonio Nanni,

Gaudenzio Meneghesso, and Enrico Zanoni, Buffer Traps in Fe-Doped AlGaN/GaN HEMTs: Investigation of the Physical Properties Based on Pulsed and Transient Measurements, IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices **61** (2014), no. 12, 4070–4077.

- [108] Alexander Y. Polyakov and In Hwan Lee, Deep traps in GaN-based structures as affecting the performance of GaN devices, Materials Science and Engineering R: Reports 94 (2015), 1–56.
- [109] Olle Axelsson, Sebastian Gustafsson, Hans Hjelmgren, Niklas Rorsman, Hervé Blanck, Jörg Splettstoesser, Jim Thorpe, Thomas Roedle, and Mattias Thorsell, Application relevant evaluation of trapping effects in AlGaN/GaN HEMTs with Fe-doped buffer, IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 63 (2016), no. 1, 326–332.
- [110] V. Desmaris, M. Rudziñski, N. Rorsman, P.R. Hageman, P.K. Larsen, H. Zirath, T.C. Rödle, and H.F.F. Jos, Comparison of the DC and Microwave Performance of AlGaN/GaN HEMTs Grown on SiC by MOCVD With Fe-Doped or Unintentionally Doped GaN Buffer Layers, IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 53 (2006), no. 9, 2413–2417.
- [111] M. J. Uren, D. G. Hayes, R. S. Balmer, D. J. Wallis, K. P. Hilton, J. O. Maclean, T. Martin, C. Roff, P. McGovern, J. Benedikt, and P. J. Tasker, *Control of short-channel effects in GaN/AlGaN HFETs*, Proceedings of the 1st European Microwave Integrated Circuits Conference, EuMIC 2006, 2007, pp. 65–68.
- [112] KK Chu, PC Chao, and MT Pizzella, 9.4-W/mm power density AlGaN-GaN HEMTs on free-standing GaN substrates, IEEE Electron Device Letters 25 (2004), no. 9, 596–598.
- [113] A. Fariza, A. Lesnik, S. Neugebauer, M. Wieneke, J. Hennig, J. Bläsing, H. Witte, A. Dadgar, and A. Strittmatter, *Leakage currents and Fermilevel shifts in GaN layers upon iron and carbon-doping*, Journal of Applied Physics **122** (2017), 025704.
- [114] E Bahat-Treidel, Frank Brunner, Oliver Hilt, Eunjung Cho, Joachim Würfl, and Günther Tränkle, AlGaN/GaN/GaN: C Back-Barrier HFETs With Breakdown Voltage of Over 1 kV and Low RON x A, IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 57 (2010), no. 11, 3050–3058.
- [115] D. D. Koleske, A. E. Wickenden, R. L. Henry, and M. E. Twigg, Influence of MOVPE growth conditions on carbon and silicon concentrations in GaN, Journal of Crystal Growth 242 (2002), no. 1-2, 55–69.
- [116] A. E. Wickenden, D. D. Koleske, R. L. Henry, M. E. Twigg, and M. Fatemi, *Resistivity control in unintentionally doped GaN films grown* by MOCVD, Journal of Crystal Growth **260** (2004), no. 1-2, 54–62.

- [117] S Miyoshi, K Onabe, N Ohkouchi, H Yaguchi, R Ito, S Fukatsu, and Y Shiraki, MOVPE growth of cubic GaN on GaAs using dimethylydrazine, Journal of Crystal Growth 124 (1992), 0–3.
- [118] A. F. Wright, Substitutional and interstitial carbon in wurtzite GaN, Journal of Applied Physics 92 (2002), no. 5, 2575–2585.
- [119] J. L. Lyons, A. Janotti, and C. G. Van de Walle, Carbon impurities and the yellow luminescence in GaN, Applied Physics Letters 97 (2010), no. 15, 95–98.
- [120] J. L. Lyons, A. Janotti, and C. G. Van de Walle, *Effects of carbon on the electrical and optical properties of InN, GaN, and AlN*, Physical Review B 89 (2014), no. 3, 035204.
- [121] C Koller, G Pobegen, C Ostermaier, and D Pogany, Evidence of defect band in carbon-doped GaN controlling leakage current and trapping dynamics, Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), 2017 IEEE International, 2017, pp. 749–752.
- [122] J. Wong-Leung, E. Nygren, and J. S. Williams, Gettering of Au to dislocations and cavities in silicon, Applied Physics Letters 67 (1995), no. 1995, 416.
- [123] A. Krtschil, A. Dadgar, and A. Krost, Decoration effects as origin of dislocation-related charges in gallium nitride layers investigated by scanning surface potential microscopy, Applied Physics Letters 82 (2003), no. 14, 2263–2265.
- [124] Christian Koller, Gregor Pobegen, Clemens Ostermaier, Martin Huber, and Dionyz Pogany, The interplay of blocking properties with charge and potential redistribution in thin carbon-doped GaN on n-doped GaN layers, Applied Physics Letters 111 (2017), no. 3, 1–6.
- [125] Michael J. Uren, Janina Moreke, and Martin Kuball, Buffer Design to Minimize Current Collapse in GaN/AlGaN HFETs, IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 59 (2012), no. 12, 3327–3333.
- [126] Michael J. Uren, Serge Karboyan, Indranil Chatterjee, Alexander Pooth, Peter Moens, Abhishek Banerjee, and Martin Kuball, "Leaky Dielectric" Model for the Suppression of Dynamic RON in Carbon-Doped Al-GaN/GaN HEMTs, IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 64 (2017), no. 7, 2826–2834.
- [127] Michael J. Uren, Marco Silvestri, Markus Casar, Godefridus Adrianus Maria Hurkx, Jeroen A. Croon, Jan Sonsky, and Martin Kuball, *Intentionally Carbon-Doped AlGaN/GaN HEMTs: Necessity for Vertical Leakage Paths*, IEEE Electron Device Letters 35 (2014), no. 3, 327–329.

- [128] Indranil Chatterjee, Michael J. Uren, Serge Karboyan, Alexander Pooth, Peter Moens, Abhishek Banerjee, and Martin Kuball, *Lateral charge transport in the carbon-doped buffer in AlGaN/GaN-on-Si HEMTs*, IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 64 (2017), no. 3, 977–983.
- [129] Vishal Panchal, Ruth Pearce, Rositza Yakimova, Alexander Tzalenchuk, and Olga Kazakova, Standardization of surface potential measurements of graphene domains, Scientific Reports 3 (2013), no. 2, 1–8.
- [130] C. Poblenz, P. Waltereit, S. Rajan, S. Heikman, U. K. Mishra, and J. S. Speck, *Effect of carbon doping on buffer leakage in AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors*, Journal of Vacuum Science & Technology B 22 (2004), no. 3, 1145.
- [131] S.W. Kaun, M.H. Wong, J. Lu, U.K. Mishra, and J.S. Speck, Reduction of carbon proximity effects by including AlGaN back barriers in HEMTs on free-standing GaN, Electronics Letters 49 (2013), no. 14, 893–895.
- [132] Piero Gamarra, Cedric Lacam, Maurice Tordjman, Jörg Splettstösser, Bernd Schauwecker, and Marie Antoinette di Forte-Poisson, Optimisation of a carbon doped buffer layer for AlGaN/GaN HEMT devices, Journal of Crystal Growth 414 (2015), 232–236.
- [133] R. Pecheux, R. Kabouche, E. Dogmus, A. Linge, E. Okada, M. Zegaoui, and F. Medjdoub, *Importance of buffer configuration in GaN HEMTs* for high microwave performance and robustness, European Solid-State Device Research Conference, 2017, pp. 228–231.
- [134] Dong Seup Lee, Xiang Gao, Shiping Guo, and Tomás Palacios, In-AlN/GaN HEMTs with AlGaN back barriers, IEEE Electron Device Letters 32 (2011), no. 5, 617–619.
- [135] K Shinohara, D Regan, A Corrion, D Brown, Y Tang, J Wong, G Candia, A Schmitz, H Fung, S Kim, and M Micovic, *Self-aligned-gate GaN-HEMTs with heavily-doped n+-GaN ohmic contacts to 2DEG*, Technical Digest - International Electron Devices Meeting, IEDM, 2012, pp. 617– 620.
- [136] Chien-Fong Lo, Chen-Kai Kao, Oleg Laboutin, Hugues Marchand, Rodney Pelzel, and Wayne Johnson, *Thermal Effects between Carbon-Doped GaN and AlGaN Back-Barrier in AlGaN/GaN HEMTs on Si (111) Sub*strates, ECS Journal of Solid State Science and Technology 6 (2017), no. 11, S3048–S3051.
- [137] Farid Medjdoub, Malek Zegaoui, Bertrand Grimbert, Nathalie Rolland, and Paul Alain Rolland, Effects of AlGaN back barrier on AlN/GaNon-silicon high-electron-mobility transistors, Applied Physics Express 4 (2011), no. 12, 4–7.

- [138] Wenjing Wang, Liuan Li, Liang He, Fan Yang, Zijun Chen, Yue Zheng, Lei He, Zhisheng Wu, Baijun Zhang, and Yang Liu, Influence of Al-GaN Back Barrier Layer Thickness on the Dynamic R ON Characteristics of AlGaN / GaN HEMTs, Wide Bandgap Semiconductors China (SSLChina: IFWS), 2016 13th China International Forum on Solid State Lighting: International Forum on, 2016, pp. 77–80.
- [139] Weihang Zhang, Xiangdong Li, Jincheng Zhang, Haiqing Jiang, Xin Xu, Zhenxing Guo, Renyuan Jiang, Yu Zou, Yunlong He, and Yue Hao, Overcoming the poor crystal quality and DC characteristics of Al-GaN/GaN/AlGaN double-heterostructure high electron mobility transistors, Physica Status Solidi (A) Applications and Materials Science 213 (2016), no. 8, 2203–2207.
- [140] G. Parish, S. Keller, S. P. Denbaars, and U. K. Mishra, SIMS investigations into the effect of growth conditions on residual impurity and silicon incorporation in GaN and AlxGa1-xN, Journal of Electronic Materials 29 (2000), no. 1, 15–20.
- [141] Dubravko I. Babić, Optimal AlGaN/GaN HEMT buffer layer thickness in the presence of an embedded thermal boundary, IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 61 (2014), no. 4, 1047–1053.
- [142] Y. F. Wu, B. P. Keller, S. Keller, D. Kapolnek, P. Kozodoy, S. P. Denbaars, and U. K. Mishra, Very high breakdown voltage and large transconductance realized on GaN heterojunction field effect transistors, Applied Physics Letters 69 (1996), no. 10, 1438–1440.
- [143] Lorenzo Lugani, Jean François Carlin, Marcel A. Py, Denis Martin, Francesca Rossi, Giancarlo Salviati, Patrick Herfurth, Erhard Kohn, Jürgen Bläsing, Alois Krost, and Nicolas Grandjean, Ultrathin In-AlN/GaN heterostructures on sapphire for high on/off current ratio high electron mobility transistors, Journal of Applied Physics 113 (2013), 214503.
- [144] Guowang Li, Ronghua Wang, Jia Guo, Jai Verma, Zongyang Hu, Yuanzheng Yue, Faiza Faria, Yu Cao, Michelle Kelly, Thomas Kosel, Huili Xing, and Debdeep Jena, Ultrathin body GaN-on-insulator quantum well FETs with regrown ohmic contacts, IEEE Electron Device Letters 33 (2012), no. 5, 661–663.
- [145] Donghyun Jin and Jesus A. Del Alamo, Methodology for the study of dynamic ON-resistance in high-voltage GaN field-effect transistors, IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices 60 (2013), no. 10, 3190–3196.
- [146] D. Ducatteau, a. Minko, V. Hoel, E. Morvan, E. Delos, B. Grimbert, H. Lahreche, P. Bove, C. Gaquiere, J.C. De Jaeger, and S. Delage, *Output*

power density of 5.1/mm at 18 GHz with an AlGaN/GaN HEMT on Si substrate, IEEE Electron Device Letters 27 (2006), no. 1, 2005–2007.

- [147] F. Lecourt, N. Ketteniss, H. Behmenburg, N. Defrance, V. Hoel, M. Eickelkamp, A. Vescan, C. Giesen, M. Heuken, and J. C. De Jaeger, *In-AlN/GaN HEMTs on sapphire substrate with 2.9-w/mm output power density at 18 GHz*, IEEE Electron Device Letters **32** (2011), no. 11, 1537–1539.
- [148] F van Raay, R Quay, R Kiefer, M Schlechtweg, and G Weimann, Large signal modeling of AlGaN/GaN HEMTs with Psat>4 W/mm at 30 GHz suitable for broadband power applications, Microwave Symposium Digest, 2003 IEEE MTT-S International, vol. 1, 2003, pp. 451 – 454 vol.1.
- [149] Bo Liu, Zhihong Feng, Shaobo Dun, Xiongwen Zhang, Guodong Gu, Yuangang Wang, Peng Xu, Zezhao He, and Shujun Cai, An extrinsic fmax> 100 GHz InAlN/GaN HEMT with AlGaN back barrier, Journal of Semiconductors 34 (2013), no. 4, 2–6.
- [150] R. Aubry, J. C. Jacquet, M. Oualli, O. Patard, S. Piotrowicz, E. Chartier, N. Michel, L. Trinh Xuan, D. Lancereau, C. Potier, M. Magis, P. Gamarra, C. Lacam, M. Tordjman, O. Jardel, C. Dua, and S. L. Delage, *ICP-CVD SiN Passivation for High-Power RF InAl-GaN/GaN/SiC HEMT*, IEEE Electron Device Letters **37** (2016), no. 5, 629–632.
- [151] Travis J. Anderson, Marko J. Tadjer, Jennifer K. Hite, Jordan D. Greenlee, Andrew D. Koehler, Karl D. Hobart, and Fritz J. Kub, *Effect of Reduced Extended Defect Density in MOCVD Grown AlGaN/GaN HEMTs* on Native GaN Substrates, IEEE Electron Device Letters **37** (2016), no. 1, 28–30.
- [152] Steven Wienecke, Brian Romanczyk, Matthew Guidry, Haoran Li, Elaheh Ahmadi, Karine Hestroffer, Xun Zheng, Stacia Keller, and Umesh K. Mishra, N-polar GaN cap MISHEMT with Record Power Density Exceeding 6.5 W/mm at 94 GHz, IEEE Electron Device Letters 38 (2017), no. 3, 359–362.
- [153] Steven Wienecke, Brian Romanczyk, Matthew Guidry, Haoran Li, Xun Zheng, Elaheh Ahmadi, Karine Hestroffer, Ludovico Megalini, Stacia Keller, and Umesh K. Mishra, *N-Polar Deep Recess MISHEMTs with Record 2.9 W/mm at 94 GHz*, IEEE Electron Device Letters **37** (2016), no. 6, 713–716.

Paper A

Low resistive Au-free, Ta-based, recessed ohmic contacts to InAlN/AlN/GaN heterostructures

J. Bergsten, A. Malmros, M. Tordjman, P. Gamarra, C. Lacam, M.-A. di Forte-Poisson and N. Rorsman

Semiconductor Science and Technology, vol. 30, iss. 10, pp. 105034, 2015.

Paper B

Performance Enhancement of Microwave GaN HEMTs Without an AlN-exclusion Layer Using an Optimized Al-GaN/GaN Interface Growth Process

J. Bergsten, J.-T. Chen, S. Gustafsson, A. Malmros, U. Forsberg, M. Thorsell, E. Janzén, and N. Rorsman

IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, vol. 63, iss. 1, pp. 333-338, 2015.

Paper C

Dispersive Effects in Microwave AlGaN/AlN/GaN HEMTs With Carbon-Doped Buffer

S. Gustafsson, J.-T. Chen, J. Bergsten, U. Forsberg, M. Thorsell, E. Janzén, and N. Rorsman

IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, vol. 62, iss. 7, pp. 2162-2169, 2015.

Paper D

AlGaN/GaN high electron mobility transistors with intentionally doped GaN buffer using propane as carbon precursor

J. Bergsten, X. Li, D. Nilsson, Ö. Danielsson, H. Pedersen, E. Janzén, U. Forsberg, and N. Rorsman

Japanese Journal of Applied Physics, vol. 55, pp. 05FK02, 2016.

Paper E

Electron Trapping in Extended Defects in Microwave Al-GaN/GaN HEMTs with Carbon Doped Buffers

J. Bergsten, M. Thorsell, J.-T. Chen, D. Adolph, O. Kordina, E. Ö. Sveinbjörnsson, and N. Rorsman

Submitted to IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices.